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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)
Quarterly report pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2003
OR
O Transition report pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 0-23719

WELLS REAL ESTATE FUND X, L.P.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Georgia 58-2250093
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)
6200 The Corners Pkwy.,
Norcross, Georgia 30092
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant’ s telephone number, including area code (770) 449-7800

(Former name, former address, and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes No [
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WELLS REAL ESTATE FUND X, L.P.

BALANCE SHEETS
(unaudited)
September 30, December 31,
2003 2002
ASSETS:
Investments in Joint Ventures
$16,788,788 $19,414,110
Cash and cash equivalents
1,915,389 153,072
Due from Joint Ventures
534,837 368,624
Deferred project costs
3,154 3,154
Total assets
$19,242,168 $19,938,960
LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS’ CAPITAL:
Liabilities:
Partnership distribution payable
$504,550 $494,704
Accounts payable
13,045 17,726
Total liabilities
517,595 512,430

Partners’ capital:

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
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Limited partners:

Class A-2,374,350 units and 2,328,014 units outstanding as of September 30, 2003 and
December 31, 2002, respectively

18,724,573 19,426,530
Class B-338,541 units and 384,877 units outstanding as of September 30, 2003 and
December 31, 2002, respectively
0 0
General Partners
0 0
Total partners’ capital
18,724,573 19,426,530
Total liabilities and partners’ capital
$19,242,168 $19,938,960

See accompanying notes
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REVENUES:

Equity in income of Joint Ventures

Other income

EXPENSES:

Partnership administration

General and administrative

Legal and accounting

NET INCOME

WELLS REAL ESTATE FUND X, L.P.

NET INCOME ALLOCATED TO CLASS A LIMITED

PARTNERS

NET LOSS ALLOCATED TO CLASS B LIMITED

PARTNERS

STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(unaudited) (unaudited)
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2003 2002 2003 2002

$194.831 $340,136 $768.113 $1.031,654

0 621 579 2,421
194,831 340,757 768.692 1,034,075

19,060 19,785 84,784 82.461

616 ) 1,909 8.267 11,290

208 989 7.718 5,748
18,752 22,683 100,769 99,499
$176,079 $318,074 $667.923 $934,576
$176,079 $511,621 $667.923 $1,548,652
$0 $(193,547 ) $0 $(614,076 )
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NET INCOME PER WEIGHTED AVERAGE CLASS A

LIMITED PARTNER UNIT
$0.07
NET LOSS PER WEIGHTED AVERAGE
CLASS B LIMITED PARTNER UNIT
$0.00
CASH DISTRIBUTION PER WEIGHTED AVERAGE
CLASS A LIMITED PARTNER UNIT
$0.21
WEIGHTED AVERAGE LIMITED PARTNER UNITS
OUTSTANDING:
CLASS A
2,374,350
CLASS B
338,541
See accompanying notes
Page 4

)

$0.22 $0.28 $0.67

$(0.50 ) $0.00 $(1.59

$0.21 $0.58 $0.64
2,327,114 2,355,528 2,325,536
385,777 357,363 387,355
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WELLS REAL ESTATE FUND X, L.P.
STATEMENTS OF PARTNERS’ CAPITAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002
AND THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2003 (UNAUDITED)

Limited Partners

Total

Class A Class B General Partners’
Units Amounts Units Amounts Partners Capital
BALANCE, December 31, 2001
2,316,618 $19,132,021 396,273 $1,031,391 $ 0 $20,163,412
Net income (loss)
0 1,977,552 0 (737,200 ) 0 1,240,352
Partnership distributions
0 (1,977,234) 0 0 0 (1,977,234)
Class B conversions
11,396 294,191 (11,396) (294,191 ) 0 0
BALANCE, December 31, 2002
2,328,014 19,426,530 384,877 0 0 19,426,530
Net income
0 667,923 0 0 0 667,923
Partnership distributions
0 (1,369,880) 0 0 0 (1,369,880)
Class B conversions
46,336 0 (46,336) 0 0 0
BALANCE, September 30, 2003 (unaudited)
2,374,350 $18,724,573 338,541 $0 $0 $18,724,573
See accompanying notes
Page 5
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WELLS REAL ESTATE FUND X, L.P.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:

Equity in income of Joint Ventures

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts payable

Net cash used in operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Distributions received from Joint Ventures

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Distributions to limited partners

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
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(unaudited)
Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2003 2002
$667,923 $934,576
(768,113 ) (1,031,654)
(4,681 ) 3,560
(104,871 ) (93,518 )
3,227,222 1,466,018
(1,360,034) (1,552,695)
1,762,317 (180,195 )
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of period

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of period

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NONCASH ACTIVITIES:

Deferred project costs applied to joint venture

Due from Joint Ventures

Partnership distributions payable

See accompanying notes
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153,072

$1,915,389

$0

$534,837

$504,550

201,387

$21,192

$8,525

$609,822

$495,514
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WELLS REAL ESTATE FUND X, L.P.
CONDENSED NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2003 (UNAUDITED)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Organization and Business

Wells Real Estate Fund X, L.P. (the “Partnership”) is a Georgia public limited partnership with Leo F. Wells, III and Wells Partners, L.P.
(“Wells Partners”), a Georgia nonpublic limited partnership, serving as the general partners (the “General Partners’). The Partnership was
formed on June 20, 1996 for the purpose of acquiring, developing, owning, operating, improving, leasing, and managing income-producing
commercial properties for investment purposes. Upon subscription, limited partners elect to have their units treated as Class A Units or Class
B Units. Limited partners have the right to change their prior elections to have some or all of their units treated as Class A Units or Class B
Units one time during each annual accounting period. Limited partners may vote to, among other things, (a) amend the partnership agreement,
subject to certain limitations; (b) change the business purpose or investment objectives of the Partnership; and (c) add or remove a general
partner. A majority vote on any of the above-described matters will bind the Partnership without the concurrence of the General Partners. Each
limited partnership unit has equal voting rights regardless of class.

On December 31, 1996, the Partnership commenced a public offering of up to $35,000,000 of limited partnership units pursuant to a
Registration Statement filed on Form S-11 under the Securities Act of 1933. The Partnership commenced active operations on February 4,
1997 upon receiving and accepting subscriptions for 125,000 units. The offer terminated on December 30, 1997 at which time approximately
2,116,099 and 596,792 units had been sold to 1,593 and 219 Class A and Class B limited partners, respectively, for total limited partner
Capital Contributions of $27,128,912. As of September 30, 2003, the Partnership had paid a total of $1,085,157 in acquisition and advisory
fees and acquisition expenses, and $4,069,338 in selling commissions and organization and offering expenses, and invested $18,641,185 in
Fund IX-X-XI-REIT Associates and $3,296,232 in Fund X-XI Associates, the Partnership held net offering proceeds of $37,000 as of
September 30, 2003, which is available for investment in properties.

The Partnership owns interests in all of its real estate assets through joint ventures with other Wells Real Estate Funds. During the periods
presented, the Partnership owned interests in the following seven properties through the affiliated joint ventures (the “Joint Ventures”) listed
below:

Joint Venture Joint Venture Partners Properties
The Fund IX, Fund X, — Wells Real Estate Fund IX, L.P. 1. Alstom Power-Knoxville Building
Fund XI and REIT — Wells Real Estate Fund X, L.P A three-story office building located
Joint Venture — Wells Real Estate Fund XI, L.P in Knoxville, Tennessee.
(“Fund IX-X-XI-REIT - Wells Operating Partnership, L.P.* 2. 360 Interlocken Building
Associates’) A three-story office building located

in Boulder County, Colorado
3. Avaya Building
A one-story office building located
in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
4. Iomega Building
A single-story warehouse and office
building located in Ogden, Weber County, Utah
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Joint Venture Joint Venture Partners Properties
5. Ohmeda Building
A two-story office building
located in Louisville, Boulder
County, Colorado

Fund X and Fund XI Associates**

Wells/Orange County Associates Wells Operating Partnership, L.P.* 6. Cort Building
(“Fund X-XI A one-story office and warehouse
Associates—Orange County”™) building located in Fountain
Valley, California
Fund X and Fund XI Associates** 7. Fairchild Building
Wells/Fremont Associates (“Fund X- Wells Operating Partnership, L.P.* A two-story warehouse and office
XI Associates— Freemont™) building located in Fremont,
California

*  Wells Operating Partnership, L.P. is a Delaware limited partnership with Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. (“Wells REIT”)

serving as its General Partner; Wells REIT is a Maryland corporation that qualifies as a real estate investment trust.

**  Wells Fund X and Fund XI Associates (‘Fund X-XI Associates”) is a joint venture between Wells Real Estate Fund X, L.P. and Wells
Real Estate Fund XI, L.P.

Each of the aforementioned properties was acquired on an all-cash basis. For further information regarding the foregoing joint ventures and
properties, refer to the report filed for the Partnership on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002.

On September 11, 2003, Fund X-XI Associates Orange County sold the Cort Building to an unrelated third party for a gross selling price of
$5,770,000. As a result of the sales, net proceeds of approximately $1,803,000 and loss of approximately $124,000 were allocated to the
Partnership.

(b) Basis of Presentation

The financial statements of the Partnership have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, including the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X, and in accordance with such rules and regulations, do
not include all of the information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) for
complete financial statements. The quarterly statements included herein have not been examined by independent auditors. In the opinion of the
General Partners, the statements for the unaudited interim periods presented include all adjustments that are of a normal and recurring nature
and necessary to fairly present the results for such periods. Results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of full-year results. For
further information, refer to the financial statements and footnotes included in the Partnership’ s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002.

(c) Allocations of Net Income, Net Loss and Gain on Sale

For the purpose of determining allocations per the partnership agreement, net income is defined as net income recognized by the Partnership,
excluding deductions for depreciation and amortization. Net income, as defined, of the Partnership will be allocated each year in the same
proportions that net cash from operations is distributed to the limited partners holding Class A Units and the General Partners. To the extent
the Partnership’ s net income
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in any year exceeds net cash from operations, it will be allocated 99% to the limited partners and 1% to the General Partners.

Net loss, depreciation, and amortization deductions for each fiscal year will be allocated as follows: (a) 99% to the limited partners holding
Class B Units and 1% to the General Partners until their capital accounts are reduced to zero; (b) then to any partner having a positive balance

in his/her capital account in an amount not to exceed such positive balance; and (c) thereafter to the General Partners.

Gains on the sale or exchange of the Partnership’ s properties will be allocated generally in the same manner that the net proceeds from such
sale are distributed to partners after the following allocations are made, if applicable: (a) allocations made pursuant to the qualified income
offset provisions of the partnership agreement; (b) allocations to partners having negative capital accounts until all negative capital accounts
have been restored to zero; and (c) allocations to limited partners holding Class B Units in amounts equal to the deductions for depreciation
and amortization previously allocated to them with respect to the specific partnership property sold, but not in excess of the amount of gain on
sale recognized by the Partnership with respect to the sale of such property.

(d) Distributions of Net Cash From Operations

Cash available for distribution, as defined by the partnership agreement, will be distributed to the limited partners quarterly. In accordance
with the partnership agreement, distributions are paid first to limited partners holding Class A Units until they have received a 10% per annum
return on their Net Capital Contributions, as defined. Then distributions are paid to the General Partners until they have received 10% of the
total amount distributed to date. Any remaining cash available for distribution is split 90% to the limited partners holding Class A Units and
10% to the General Partners. No cash distributions will be made to the limited partners holding Class B Units.

(e) Distribution of Sales Proceeds
Upon the sale of properties, the net sales proceeds will be distributed in the following order:

In the event that the particular property sold is sold for a price less than the original property purchase price, to the limited partners
holding Class A Units until they receive an amount equal to the excess of the original property purchase price over the price for
which the property was sold, limited to the amount of depreciation deductions taken by the limited partners holding Class B Units
with respect to such property.

To limited partners holding units which at any time have been treated as Class B Units until they receive an amount necessary to

equal the net cash available for distribution received by the limited partners holding Class A Units on a per-unit basis.
To limited partners on a per-unit basis until each limited partner has received 100% of his/her Net Capital Contributions, as defined

To all limited partners on a per-unit basis until they receive a cumulative 10% per annum return on their Net Capital Contributions,
as defined

To limited partners on a per-unit basis until they receive an amount equal to their preferential limited partner return (defined as the
sum of a 10% per annum cumulative return on Net Capital Contributions for all periods during which the units were treated as Class
A Units and a 15% per annum cumulative return on Net Capital Contributions for all periods during which the units were treated as
Class B Units)

To the General Partners until they have received 100% of their Capital Contributions, as defined
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Then, if limited partners have received any excess limited partner distributions (defined as distributions to limited partners over the

life of their investment in the Partnership in excess of their Net Capital Contributions, as defined, plus their preferential limited

partner return), to the General Partners until they have received distributions equal to 20% of the sum of any such excess limited

partner distributions plus distributions made to the General Partners pursuant to this provision

Thereafter, 80% to the limited partners on a per-unit basis and 20% to the General Partners

2.  INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES

(a) Basis of Presentation

The Partnership owned interests in seven properties during the periods presented through its ownership in the Joint Ventures. The Partnership

does not have control over the operations of these Joint Ventures; however, it does exercise significant influence. Accordingly, the

Partnership’ s investments in the Joint Ventures are recorded using the equity method of accounting, whereby original investments are

recorded at cost and subsequently adjusted for contributions, distributions, and net income (loss) attributable to the Partnership. For further
information regarding investments in joint ventures, see the report filed for the Partnership on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,

2002.

(b) Summary of Operations

The following information summarizes the operations of the Joint Ventures for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2003

and 2002, respectively:

Fund IX-X-XI-REIT
Associates

Fund X-XI Associates

Fund IX-X-XI-REIT Associates

Total Revenues

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2003 2002

$1,325,354 $1,345,648

(101,645 )* 107,995 *

gl ,223,709 $1,453,043(1)

Total Revenues

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2003 2002

$3,967,683 $4,169,856

Net Income

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2003 2002

$523,387 $573,657

(101,645 ) 107,995

$421,742 5681,652

Net Income

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2003 2002

$1,461,095 $1,747,098
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Partnership’ s

Share of Net Income

Three Months Ended
September 30,

2003 2002

$253,797 $277,486

(58,966) 62,650

$194,831 $340,136

Partnership’ s

Share of Net Income

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

2003 2002

$708,504 $844,646
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Fund X-XI Associates
322,358 59,609 187,008

106,824 * 322,358 * 102,752
§4,074,507 $4,492,214(2) $1,563,847 52,069,456 $768,113 $1,031,654

The Partnership’s share of income earned from its investment in Fund X-XI Associates—Orange County and Fund X-XI
Associates—Fremont is recorded by Fund X-XI Associates as equity in income of Joint Ventures, which is classified as revenue.
(1)  Amounts have been restated to reflect tenant reimbursements of $268,704 as revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2002,

which has no impact on net income.

Page 10

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

Table of Contents

(2) Amounts have been restated to reflect tenant reimbursements of $880,173 as revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2002,

which has no impact on net income.

The following information summarizes the operations of the joint ventures in which the Partnership held an interest through its interest in

Fund X-XI Associates for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively:

Income From

(Loss) Income From

Fund X-XI Associates’

Continuing Discontinued Share of Net (Loss)
Total Revenues Operations Operations Net (Loss) Income Income*
Three Months Three Months Three Months Three Months Three Months
Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
Fund X-XI Associates— Orange County
$0 $0 $0 $0 $(236,322) $134,828 $(236,322) $134,828 $(133,127) $75,952
Fund X-XI Associates— Fremont
225,669 226,188 139,944 142,438 0 0 139,944 142,438 31,482 32,043
$225,669 $226,188 $139,944 $142,438 $(236,322) $134,828 $(96,378 ) $277,266 $(101,645) $107,995
Income From Income From Fund X-XI
Continuing Discontinued Associates’
Total Revenues Operations Operations Net Income Share of Net Income*
Nine Months Nine Months Nine Months Nine Months Nine Months
Ended Ended Ended Ended Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
Fund X-XI Associates—Orange
County
$0 $0 $0 $0 $24,097 $404,784 $24,097 $404,784 $13,575 $228,026
Fund X-XI Associates—Fremont
677,267 679,413 414,519 419,329 0 0 414,519 419,329 93,250 94,332
$677,267 $679,413 $414,519 $419,329 $24,097 $404,784 $438,616 $824,113 $106,825 $322,358

* The Partnership’s share of income earned from its investment in Fund X-XI Associates—Orange County and Fund X-XI

Associates—Fremont is recorded by Fund X -XI Associates as equity in income of Joint Ventures, which is classified as revenue.

3.  RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
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In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities,” which clarifies the application of Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” relating to
consolidation of certain entities. FIN 46 requires the identification of the Partnership’ s participation in variable interest entities (“VIEs”),
which are defined as entities with a level of invested equity that is not sufficient to fund future activities to permit them to operate on a stand-
alone basis, or whose equity holders lack certain characteristics of a controlling financial interest. For entities identified as VIEs, FIN 46 sets
forth a model to evaluate potential consolidation based on an assessment of which party to the VIE, if any, bears a majority of the exposure to
its expected losses, or stands to gain from a majority of its expected returns. FIN 46 is effective for all new VIEs created or acquired after
January 31, 2003. For VIEs created or acquired prior to February 1, 2003, the Partnership has adopted the provisions of FIN 46 commencing
on June 15, 2003. FIN 46 also sets forth certain disclosures regarding interests in VIEs that are
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deemed significant, even if consolidation is not required. As the Joint Ventures do not fall under the definition of VIEs provided above, the
adoption of FIN 46 has not resulted in the consolidation of any previously unconsolidated entities.

4. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Management and Leasing Fees

The Partnership entered into a property management and leasing agreement with Wells Management, Inc. (“Wells Management”), an affiliate
of the General Partners. In consideration for supervising the management of properties, such properties will generally pay Wells Management
management and leasing fees equal to (a) 3% of the gross revenues for management and 3% of the gross revenues for leasing (aggregate
maximum of 6%) plus a separate fee for the one-time initial lease-up of newly constructed properties in an amount not to exceed the fee
customarily charged in arm’ s-length transactions by others rendering similar services in the same geographic area for similar properties or (b)
in the case of commercial properties which are leased on a long-term net basis (ten or more years), 1% of the gross revenues, except for initial
leasing fees equal to 3% of the gross revenues over the first five years of the lease term. The properties in which the Partnership owns interests
incurred management and leasing fees payable to Wells Management of $74,415 and $83,866 for the three months ended September 30, 2003
and 2002, respectively, and $250,852 and $259,740 for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

(b) Administration Reimbursements

Wells Capital, Inc. (“Wells Capital™), an affiliate of the General Partners, and its affiliates perform certain administrative services for the
Partnership, such as accounting, property management, and other partnership administration, and incur the related expenses. Such expenses
are allocated among the various Wells Real Estate Funds based on time spent on each fund by individual administrative personnel. The
Partnership reimbursed $13,493 and $10,565 for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and $44,126 and $29,080
for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively, to Wells Capital and its affiliates for these services and expenses. The
Joint Ventures reimbursed $41,248 and $28,102 for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and $124,417 and
$88,393 for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively, to Wells Capital and its affiliates for these services and
expenses.

(c¢) Conflicts of Interest

The General Partners are also general partners of other Wells Real Estate Funds. As such, there may exist conflicts of interest where the
General Partners in their capacity as general partners of other Wells Real Estate Funds may be in competition with the Partnership in

connection with property acquisitions or for tenants in similar geographic markets.

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements and notes thereto.

(a) Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, including discussion and analysis of the financial condition of the Partnership, anticipated capital expenditures
required to complete certain projects, amounts of cash distributions anticipated to be distributed to limited partners in the future, and certain
other matters. Readers of this Report should be aware that there are various factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from any
forward-looking statements made in this report, including construction costs which may exceed estimates,
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construction delays, lease-up risks, inability to obtain new tenants upon the expiration of existing leases, and the potential need to fund tenant

improvements or other capital expenditures out of operating cash flows.

(b) Results of Operations
Gross Revenues

Gross revenues of the Partnership decreased to $194,831 for the three months ended September 30, 2003 from $340,757 for the three months
ended September 30, 2002, and to $768,692 for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 from $1,034,075 for the nine months ended
September 30, 2002 primarily due to the corresponding decrease in equity in income of Joint Ventures described below.

Equity In Income of Joint Ventures
Gross Revenues of Joint Ventures

Gross revenues of Joint Ventures decreased in 2003, as compared to 2002, primarily due to a 27% decrease in occupancy of the 360
Interlocken Building beginning in the third quarter of 2003.

Expenses of Joint Ventures

Expenses of Joint Ventures increased in 2003, as compared to 2002, primarily due to increases in: (i) non-reimbursable HVAC costs for
the 360 Interlocken Building, and (ii) property taxes assessed for the 360 Interlocken Building and Ohmeda Building.

Equity In Income of Joint Ventures from Discontinued Operations

Equity in income of Joint Ventures from discontinued operations decreased for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 and
2002, respectively, primarily as a result of the loss recognized on the sale of the Cort Building during the third quarter of 2003.

As aresult of the decrease in gross revenues, increase in expenses of the Joint Ventures, and decrease in equity in income of Joint
Ventures from discontinued operations described above, equity in income of Joint Ventures decreased to $194,831 from $340,136 for
the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and to $768,113 from $1,031,654 for the nine months ended
September 30, 2003 and 2002 respectively.

Expenses

Expenses of the Partnership were relatively stable at $18,752 and $22,683 for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, and $100,769 and $99,499 for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Net Income

As a result of the above factors, net income of the Partnership was $176,079 and $318,074 for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and
2002, respectively, and $667,923 and $934,576 for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

(¢) Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net cash flows from operating activities slightly increased to $(104,871) from $(93,518) for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and
2002, respectively, due to a change in the timing of paying accounts payable.
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Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Net cash flows from investing activities were $3,227,222 and $1,466,018 for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The 2003 increase from 2002 is attributable to the receipt of net sales proceeds from Fund X-XI Associates for the sale of the
Cort Building in the third quarter of 2003, partially offset

by a decline in distributions received from Fund IX-X-XI-REIT due to the 27% decline in occupancy of the 360 Interlocken Building
beginning in the third quarter of 2003.

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Net cash flows from financing activities were $(1,360,034) and $(1,552,695) for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The 2003 decrease in cash flows used, which represents distributions to partners, is largely attributable to the decline in cash
flows from investing activities resulting from: (i) the decline in occupancy of the 360 Interlocken Building, and (ii) the sale of the Cort
Building.

Distributions

The Partnership declared distributions to the limited partners holding Class A Units of $0.21 per unit for the quarters ended September 30,
2003 and 2002. Such distributions have been made from net cash from operations and distributions received from investments in the Joint
Ventures. Distributions accrued for the third quarter of 2003 to the limited partners holding Class A Units were paid in November 2003. No
cash distributions were made to limited partners holding Class B Units.

Capital Resources

The Partnership is an investment vehicle formed for the purpose of acquiring, owning, and operating income-producing real properties. Other
than investor proceeds of $37,000, the Partnership has invested all of its funds available for investment in properties. Accordingly, the General
Partners anticipate investing the remaining investor proceeds in capital projects for its existing property investments and do not intend to
acquire interests in additional properties. Fund IX-X-XI-REIT Associates is expecting to fund approximately $114,000 in capital parking lot
repairs for the 360 Interlocken Building during the fourth quarter of 2003. Through its November 30, 2007 lease expiration, Alstom Power,
the only tenant at the Knoxville Building, has the right to request tenant improvements up to $245,000; Fund IX-X-XI-REIT Associates has

not received a request for any such funding to date.

Sales Proceeds

Rather than distributing the net proceeds from the sale of the Cort Building to the limited partners, such proceeds will be held in reserve as the
Partnership continues to evaluate the capital needs of the other properties in which it holds an interest in consideration of the best interests of
the limited partners. Upon completing this evaluation, the General Partners anticipate distributing the net sales proceeds not otherwise
reserved to the limited partners in accordance with the terms of the partnership agreement in 2004.

(d) Related-Party Transactions

The Partnership and its joint ventures have entered into agreements with Wells Capital, the general partner of Wells Partners, L.P. and its
affiliates, whereby the Partnership or its joint ventures pay certain fees or reimbursements to Wells Capital or its affiliates (e.g., property
management and leasing fees, administrative salary reimbursements, etc.). See Note 4 to the Partnership’ s financial statements included in
this report for a discussion of the various related party transactions, agreements, and fees.
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(e) Inflation

The real estate market has not been affected significantly by inflation in the past three years due to the relatively low inflation rate. However,
there are provisions in the majority of tenant leases, which would protect the Partnership from the impact of inflation. These provisions
include reimbursement billings for operating expense pass-through charges, real estate tax and insurance reimbursements on a per-square-foot
basis, or in some cases, annual reimbursement of operating expenses above a certain per-square-foot allowance. There is no assurance,
however, that the Partnership would be able to replace existing leases with new leases at higher base rental rates.

(f) Application of Critical Accounting Policies

The Partnership’ s accounting policies have been established to conform with GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with GAAP requires management to use judgment in the application of accounting policies, including making estimates and assumptions.
These judgments affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. If management’ s judgment or
interpretation of the facts and circumstances relating to various transactions had been different, it is possible that different accounting policies
would have been applied; thus resulting in a different presentation of the financial statements. Additionally, other companies may utilize
different estimates that may impact comparability of the Partnership’ s results of operations to those of companies in similar businesses.

Below is a discussion of the accounting policies that management considers to be critical in that they may require complex judgment in their
application or require estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain.

Investment in Real Estate Assets

Management is required to make subjective assessments as to the useful lives of its depreciable assets. Management considers the period of
future benefit of the asset to determine the appropriate useful lives. These assessments have a direct impact on net income. The estimated
useful lives of the Joint Ventures’ assets by class are as follows:

Building 25 years

Building improvements 10-25 years
Land improvements 20-25 years
Tenant improvements Lease term

In the event that management uses inappropriate useful lives or methods for depreciation, the Partnership’ s net income would be misstated.

Valuation of Real Estate Assets

Management continually monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amounts of the real estate assets
in which the Partnership has an ownership interest, either directly or through investments in Joint Ventures, may not be recoverable. When
indicators of potential impairment are present which indicate that the carrying amounts of real estate assets may not be recoverable,

management assesses the recoverability of the real estate assets by determining whether the carrying value of the real estate assets will be
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recovered through the undiscounted future operating cash flows expected from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. In the event
that such expected undiscounted future cash flows do not exceed the carrying value, management adjusts the real estate assets to the fair value
and recognizes an impairment loss. Management has determined that there has been no impairment in the carrying value of real estate assets
held by the Partnership to date.
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Projections of expected future cash flows require management to estimate future market rental income amounts subsequent to the expiration of
current lease agreements, property operating expenses, discount rates, the number of months it takes to re-lease the property, and the number
of years the property is held for investment. The use of inappropriate assumptions in the future cash flow analysis would result in an incorrect
assessment of the property’ s future cash flows and fair value, and could result in the overstatement of the carrying value of real estate assets

held by the Joint Ventures and net income of the Partnership.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS

Since the Partnership does not borrow any money, make any foreign investments, or invest in any market risk-sensitive instruments, it is not
subject to risks relating to interest rates, foreign current exchange rate fluctuations, or the other market risks contemplated by Item 305 of
Regulation S-K.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Partnership carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management of Wells Capital, Inc., the corporate
general partner of one of the General Partners of the Partnership, including the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, of
the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Partnership’ s disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by
this report pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Based upon that evaluation, the Principal Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer concluded that the Partnership’ s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

There were no significant changes in the Partnership’ s internal controls over financial reporting that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Partnership’ s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(a) The Exhibits to this report are set forth on Exhibit Index to Third Quarter Form 10-Q attached hereto.

(b) During the third quarter of 2003, the Registrant filed a Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 25, 2003 disclosing the sale of the
Cort Building.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

WELLS REAL ESTATE FUND X, L.P.
(Registrant)

By: WELLS PARTNERS, L.P.

(General Partner)

By: WELLS CAPITAL, INC.

(Corporate General Partner)

November 7, 2003 /s/  LEOF. WELLS, III
Leo F. Wells, 111
President
November 7, 2003 /s/  DOUGLAS P. WILLIAMS

Douglas P. Williams
Principal Financial Officer

of Wells Capital, Inc.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
TO THIRD QUARTER FORM 10-Q

OF
WELLS REAL ESTATE FUND X, L.P.

Exhibit
No. Description
10.1 Purchase and Sale Agreement relating to the sale of the Cort Building dated May 30, 2003
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002
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PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

by and between

WELLS/ORANGE COUNTY ASSOCIATES,
a Georgia joint venture

and
ITZHAK SHABTAI AND NEVONA SHABTAIL TRUSTEES OF ITZHAK AND
NEVONA SHABTAI FAMILY TRUST DATED JULY 19, 2002,

a California family trust

Property Name: Cort Building
Location: Orange County, State of California

Effective Date: MAY 30, 2003
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PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

THIS PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made as of MAY 30, 2003, by and between WELLS/
ORANGE COUNTY ASSOCIATES, a Georgia joint venture (“Seller”), and ITZHAK SHABTAI AND NEVONA SHABTALI,
TRUSTEES OF ITZHAK AND NEVONA SHABTAI FAMILY TRUST DATED JULY 19, 2002, a California family trust (“Buyer”).

WITNESSETH:

For and in consideration of the covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth, the sum of Ten Dollars ($10.00) and other good and
valuable consideration in hand paid by Seller to Buyer and by Buyer to Seller upon the execution of this Agreement, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by each of the parties hereto, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS

As used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or any federal or state of Georgia holiday. If any period expires on a
day which is not a Business Day or any event or condition is required by the terms of this Agreement to occur or be fulfilled on a day which is
not a Business Day, such period shall expire or such event or condition shall occur or be fulfilled, as the case may be, on the next succeeding
Business Day.

¢

‘Buyer’ s Reports” shall mean the results of any examinations, inspections, investigations, tests, studies, analyses, appraisals,
evaluations and/or investigations prepared by or for or otherwise obtained by Buyer or Buyer’ s Representatives in connection with Buyer’ s
Due Diligence.

¢

‘Buyer’ s Representatives” shall mean Buyer, any direct or indirect owner of any beneficial interest in Buyer, and any officers,
directors, employees, agents, representatives and attorneys of Buyer or any such direct or indirect owner of any beneficial interest in Buyer.

“Closing” shall mean the closing of the Transaction.

“Closing Date” shall mean a date not later than (30) calendar days following the expiration of the Due Diligence Period, as the same
may be extended pursuant to the express terms of this Agreement.

“Closing Tax Year” shall mean the Tax Year in which the Closing Date occurs.

“Confidential Materials” shall mean any books, computer software, records or files (whether in a printed or electronic format) that
consist of or contain any of the following:
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appraisals; budgets; strategic plans for the Property; internal analyses; information regarding the marketing of the Property for sale;
submissions relating to obtaining internal authorization for the sale of the Property by Seller or any direct or indirect owner of any beneficial
interest in Seller; attorney and accountant work product; attorney-client privileged documents; internal correspondence of Seller, any direct or
indirect owner of any beneficial interest in Seller, or any of their respective affiliates and correspondence between or among such parties; or
other information in the possession or control of Seller, Seller’ s property manager or any direct or indirect owner of any beneficial interest in
Seller which such party deems proprietary or confidential.

“Contracts” shall mean all service, supply, maintenance, utility and commission agreements, all equipment leases, and all other
contracts, subcontracts and agreements relating to the Real Property and the Personal Property and to which Seller (or Seller’ s managing
agent) is a party (including all contracts, subcontracts and agreements relating to the construction of any unfinished tenant improvements), all
of which are described in Exhibit B attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, together with any additional contracts,
subcontracts and agreements entered into in accordance with the terms of Subsection 10.2.1 hereof and as the same may be modified or
terminated in accordance with the terms of Subsection 10.2.1.

“deemed to know” (or words of similar import) shall have the following meaning: Buyer shall be “deemed to know” of the existence of
a fact or circumstance to the extent that: (i) any Buyer’ s Representative knows of such fact or circumstance (or, as to any Seller’ s Warranty, if
any Buyer’ s Representative has knowledge of information which is inconsistent with such Seller’ s Warranty), or (ii) such fact or
circumstance is disclosed by this Agreement, any documents executed by Seller for the benefit of Buyer in connection with the Closing, the
Due Diligence Documents, any estoppel certificate executed by any tenant of the Property and delivered to Buyer or any Buyer’ s
Representatives, or any Buyer’ s Reports (or, as to any Seller’ s Warranty, if any of the foregoing contains information which is inconsistent
with such Seller’ s Warranty).

“Deposit” shall mean the sum of Fifty Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($50,000.00), to the extent the same is deposited by Buyer in
accordance with the terms of Subsection 3.1.1 hereof, together with any interest earned thereon.

3

‘Designated Employees” shall mean F. Parker Hudson and Don Henry and Katie Clement.
“Due Diligence” shall mean examinations, inspections, investigations, tests, studies, analyses, appraisals, evaluations and/or
investigations with respect to the Property, the Due Diligence Documents, and other information and documents regarding the Property,
including, without limitation, examination and review of title matters, applicable land use and zoning Laws and other Laws applicable to the
Property, the physical condition of the Property, and the economic status of the Property.

“Due Diligence Documents” shall mean the documents and instruments applicable to the Property or any portion thereof that Seller
shall deliver to Buyer, as listed on Exhibit O
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attached hereto, or any of the other Seller Parties deliver or make available to Buyer or Buyer’ Representatives prior to Closing or which are
otherwise obtained by Buyer or Buyer’ s Representatives prior to Closing, including, but not limited to, the Title Commitment, the Survey, the
Title Documents, and the Property Documents.

“Due Diligence Period” shall mean the period commencing on or prior to the execution of this Agreement and expiring thirty (30) days
from the date of this Agreement, unless extended in accordance with Section 5.1.1 herein.

“Escrow Agent” shall mean First American Title Insurance Company, whose mailing address is 2 First American Way, Santa Ana, CA,
Attention: MARIA MENA, in its capacity as escrow agent.

“Laws” shall mean all municipal, county, state or federal statutes, codes, ordinances, laws, rules or regulations.
“Leases” shall mean all leases for tenants of the Real Property on the Closing Date (including, without limitation, all New Leases).

“Liabilities” shall mean, collectively, any and all problems, conditions, losses, costs, damages, claims, liabilities, expenses, demands or
obligations of any kind or nature whatsoever.

“LOI Date” shall mean May 18, 2003, the date of full execution of the letter of interest between Buyer and Seller with respect to the
Property.

“Major Casualty/Condemnation” shall mean:
(a) with respect to any condemnation or eminent domain proceedings that occurs after the date hereof, the portion of the Property that

is the subject of such proceedings has a value in excess of One Million and no/100 Dollars ($1,000,000), as reasonably determined
by Seller; or

(b) with respect to any casualty that occurs after the date hereof, either (i) the casualty is an uninsured casualty and Seller, in its sole
and absolute discretion, does not elect to cause the damage to be repaired or restored or give Buyer a credit at Closing for such
repair or restoration, or (ii) the portion of the Property that is damaged or destroyed has a cost of repair that is in excess of One
Million and no/100 Dollars ($1,000,000), as reasonably determined by Seller.

“New Leases” shall mean, collectively, any Lease entered into between the LOI Date and the Closing Date.

“Other Property Rights” shall mean, collectively, Seller’ s interest in and to all of the following, if and only to the extent the same may
be assigned or quitclaimed by Seller without any expense to Seller: to the extent that the same are in effect as of the Closing Date, any
licenses, permits and other written authorizations necessary for the use, operation or ownership of the Real Property, any guaranties and

warranties in effect with respect to any portion of the Real Property or the Personal Property as of the Closing Date.

-3-
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“Owner’ s Title Policy” shall mean an ALTA Owner’ s Form of title insurance policy (or such other comparable form of title insurance
policy as is available in the jurisdiction in which the Property is located) in the form of the Title Commitment, in the amount of the Purchase
Price.

“Permitted Exceptions” shall mean and include all of the following, subject to the rights of Buyer to object to matters of title and
survey pursuant to Article 4 hereof and the right of Buyer to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article 5 hereof: (a) applicable zoning and
building ordinances and land use regulations, (b) all liens, encumbrances, covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements and other matters of
record, unless the same are caused or created by Seller in violation of the terms of Subsection 4.2.3, (¢) such exceptions to title as are listed on
Schedule B of the Title Commitment, including the Title Company’ s standard printed exceptions, (d) such state of facts as disclosed in the
Survey, (e) such state of facts as would be disclosed by a physical inspection of the Property of the nature of inspection which would be
conducted in a Survey of the Property, (f) the lien of taxes and assessments not yet due and payable (it being agreed by Buyer and Seller that if
any tax or assessment is levied or assessed with respect to the Property after the date hereof and the owner of the Property has the election to
pay such tax or assessment either immediately or under a payment plan with interest, Seller may elect to pay under a payment plan, which
election shall be binding on Buyer), (g) any exceptions caused by Buyer or any Buyer’ s Representative, (h) the rights of the tenants under the
Leases, (i) any matters about which Buyer knows or is deemed to know prior to the expiration of the Due Diligence Period, and (j) any matters
deemed to constitute additional Permitted Exceptions under Subsection 4.2.1 hereof. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained
in this Agreement or any of the documents to be executed in connection herewith or pursuant hereto, any or all of the Permitted Exceptions
may be omitted by Seller in the Deed (as defined in Subsection 7.3(a)) without giving rise to any liability of Seller, irrespective of any
covenant or warranty of Seller contained in the Deed (which provisions shall survive the Closing and not be merged therein).

“Personal Property” shall mean all tangible personal property owned by Seller (excluding any computer software which either (a) is
licensed to Seller, or (b) Seller deems proprietary), located on the Real Property and used in the ownership, operation and maintenance of the
Real Property and all non-confidential books, records and files (excluding any appraisals, budgets, strategic plans for the Real Property,
internal analyses, information regarding the marketing of the Property for sale, submissions relating to Seller’ s obtaining of corporate
authorization, attorney and accountant work product, attorney-client privileged documents, or other information in the possession or control of
Seller or Seller’ s property manager which Seller deems proprietary) relating to the Real Property, which Buyer elects to assume hereunder.
Buyer shall notify Seller in writing prior to the expiration of the Due Diligence Deadline whether Buyer elects not to assume any of the
Personal Property in connection with the sale contemplated hereby.
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“Property” shall mean, collectively, (a) the Real Property, (b) the Personal Property, (c) Seller’ s interest as landlord in all Leases; (d) if
and to only the extent the same may be assigned or quitclaimed by Seller without any expense to Seller, the Contracts, and (¢) the Other
Property Rights.

“Property Documents” shall mean, collectively, (a) the Leases, (b) the Contracts, and (c) any other documents or instruments which
constitute, evidence or create any portion of the Property.

“Purchase Price” shall mean the sum of Six Million Two Hundred Forty Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($6,240,000.00).
“Real Property” shall mean that certain parcel of real estate located at 10700 Spencer Avenue, Fountain Valley, Orange County,
California and legally described in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, together with all buildings,
improvements and fixtures located thereon and owned by Seller as of the Closing Date and all right, title and interest, if any, that Seller may
have in and to all rights, privileges and appurtenances pertaining thereto including all of Seller’ s right, title and interest, if any, in and to all
rights-of-way, open or proposed streets, alleys, easements, strips or gores of land adjacent thereto; provided, however, that in the event of any
condemnation or casualty that occurs after the date hereof, the term “Real Property” shall not include any of the foregoing that is destroyed or
taken as a result of any such condemnation proceeding.

“Reimbursable Lease Expenses” shall mean, collectively, any and all costs, expenses and fees paid by Seller prior to Closing or costs,
expenses and fees incurred by Seller prior to Closing arising out of or in connection with (a) any extensions, renewals or expansions under any
Lease exercised or granted between the LOI Date and the Closing Date, and (b) any New Lease. Reimbursable Lease Expenses shall include,
without limitation, (i) brokerage commissions and fees to effect any such leasing transaction, (ii) expenses incurred for repairs, improvements,
equipment, painting, decorating, partitioning and other items to satisfy the tenant’ s requirements with regard to such leasing transaction, (iii)
legal fees for services in connection with the preparation of documents and other services rendered in connection with the effectuation of the
leasing transaction, (iv) if there are any rent concessions covering any period that the tenant has the right to be in possession of the demised
space, the rents that would have accrued during the period of such concession prior to the Closing Date as if such concession were amortized
over (A) with respect to any extension or renewal, the term of such extension or renewal, (B) with respect to any expansion, that portion of the
term remaining under the subject Lease after the date of any expansion, or (C) with respect to any New Lease, the entire initial term of any
such New Lease, and (v) expenses incurred for the purpose of satisfying or terminating the obligations of a tenant under a New Lease to the
landlord under another lease (whether or not such other lease covers space in the Property).

“Remove” with respect to any exception to title shall mean that Seller causes the Title Company to remove or affirmatively insure over
the same as an exception to the Owner’ s Title Policy for the benefit of Buyer, without any additional cost to Buyer, whether such removal or

insurance is made available in consideration of payment, bonding, indemnity of Seller or otherwise.

-5-

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

“Rents” shall mean all base rents, percentage rents, additional rent and any tax and operating expense reimbursements and escalations
due from the tenants of the Property under the Leases.

“Required Removal Exceptions” shall mean, collectively, any Title Objections to the extent (and only to the extent) that the same (a)
have not been caused by Buyer or any Buyer’ s Representatives, and (b) are either:

(i) liens evidencing monetary encumbrances (other than liens for non-delinquent general real estate taxes or assessments) (“Monetary
Liens”) which can be Removed by payment of liquidated amounts but only if such Monetary Liens have been created by written
instrument signed by Seller or assumed by written instrument signed by Seller; or

(i) liens or encumbrances (including, but not limited to, Monetary Liens) created by Seller after the date of this Agreement in
violation of Subsection 4.2.3.

“Seller-Allocated Amounts” shall mean, collectively:

(a) with respect to any condemnation or eminent domain proceedings with respect to any portion of the Property that occurs after the
date hereof, (i) the costs, expenses and fees, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and disbursements, incurred by Seller
in connection with obtaining payment of any award or proceeds in connection with any such condemnation or eminent domain

proceedings, and (ii) any portion of any such award or proceeds that is allocable to loss of use of the Property prior to Closing; or

(b) with respect to any casualty to any portion of the Property that occurs after the date hereof, (i) the costs, expenses and fees,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and disbursements, incurred by Seller in connection with the negotiation and/or
settlement of any casualty claim with an insurer with respect to the Property, (ii) the proceeds of any rental loss, business
interruption or similar insurance that are allocable to the period prior to the Closing Date, and (iii) the reasonable and actual costs
incurred by Seller in stabilizing the Property following a casualty.

“Seller’ s Broker” shall mean Lee & Associates.
“Seller’ s Knowledge” or words of similar import shall refer only to the actual knowledge of the Designated Employees and shall not be
construed to refer to the knowledge of any other Seller Party, or to impose or have imposed upon the Designated Employees any duty to
investigate the matters to which such knowledge, or the absence thereof, pertains, including, but not limited to, the contents of the files,
documents and materials made available to or disclosed
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to Buyer or the contents of files maintained by the Designated Employees. There shall be no personal liability on the part of the Designated
Employees arising out of any of the Seller’ s Warranties.

“Seller Parties” shall mean and include, collectively, (a) Seller; (b) its counsel; (c) Seller’ s Broker; (d) Wells Real Estate Funds (¢) any
direct or indirect owner of any beneficial interest in Seller, (f) any officer, director, employee, or agent of Seller, its counsel, Seller’ s Broker,
Seller’ s property manager or any direct or indirect owner of any beneficial interest in Seller; and (g) any other entity or individual affiliated or
related in any way to any of the foregoing.

“Seller’ s Warranties” shall mean Seller’ s representations and warranties set forth in Section 9.2 and the limited warranty of title set
forth in the deed executed by Seller in connection with Closing as the same may be deemed modified or waived by Buyer pursuant to this
Agreement.

‘Survey” shall mean a certified boundary survey of the Property to be obtained as set forth in Article 4.

“Tax Year” shall mean the year period commencing on January 1 of each calendar year and ending on December 31 of each calendar
year.

“Title Commitment” shall mean that certain commitment to issue an Owner’ s Policy of Title Insurance with respect to the Property to
be issued by the Title Company.

“Title Company” shall mean First American Title Insurance Company.
“Title Documents” shall mean all recorded documents referred to on Schedule B of the Title Commitment as exceptions to coverage.

3

‘Title Objections” shall mean any exceptions to title to which Buyer is entitled and timely objects in accordance with the terms of
Subsection 4.2.1(a).

“Transaction” shall mean the transaction contemplated by this Agreement.

“Wells” shall mean WELLS/ORANGE COUNTY ASSOCIATES, a Georgia joint venture, the Seller as described herein.

ARTICLE 2 - SALE OF PROPERTY

Seller agrees to sell, transfer and assign and Buyer agrees to purchase, accept and assume, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in
this Agreement and the Exhibits attached hereto, all of Seller’ s right, title and interest in and to the Property.
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ARTICLE 3 - PURCHASE PRICE

In consideration of the sale of the Property to Buyer, Buyer shall pay to Seller an amount equal to the Purchase Price, as prorated and
adjusted as set forth in Article 6, Section 7.2, or as otherwise provided under this Agreement.

3.1 Earnest Money Deposit.

3.1.1 Payment of Deposit. Upon the full and final execution of this Agreement Buyer shall make the Deposit in immediately
available funds with Escrow Agent.

3.1.2 Applicable Terms: Failure to Make Deposit. Except as expressly otherwise set forth herein, the Deposit shall be applied
against the Purchase Price on the Closing Date and shall otherwise be held and delivered by Escrow Agent in accordance with the
provisions of Article 13. Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, if Buyer fails to timely make the Deposit as
provided herein, at Seller’ s option, Buyer shall be deemed to have elected to terminate this Agreement and, if Seller elects such option,
the parties shall have no further rights or obligations hereunder except for obligations which expressly survive the termination of this
Agreement.

3.2 Cash at Closing. On the Closing Date, Buyer shall pay to Seller the Purchase Price in immediately available funds by wire transfer
as more particularly set forth in Section 7.2, as prorated and adjusted as set forth in Article 6, Section 7.2, or as otherwise provided under this
Agreement.

ARTICLE 4 - TITLE MATTERS

4.1 Title to Real Property. Buyer shall use good faith and reasonable efforts to obtain the Title Commitment, copies of all of the Title
Documents, and the Survey as soon as reasonably practicable after the date hereof. Buyer shall notify Seller when it receives any of the
aforementioned documents and shall promptly furnish Seller copies of the same.

4.2 Title Defects.

4.2.1 Buyer’ s Objections to Title; Seller’ s Obligations and Rights.

(a) Prior to the end of the Due Diligence Period, Buyer shall have the right to object in writing to any title matters that appear on
the Title Commitment, the Survey, and any supplemental title reports or updates to the Title Commitment (whether or not such matters
constitute Permitted Exceptions). In addition, after the expiration of the Due Diligence Period, Buyer shall have the right to object in
writing to any title matters that are not Permitted Exceptions and that materially adversely affect Buyer’ s title to the Real Property if
such matters appear on any supplemental title reports or updates to the Title Commitment issued after the expiration of the Due
Diligence Period and if such matters are placed of record after the effective date of the Title Commitment received prior to the expiration
of the Due Diligence Period so long as such objection is made by
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Buyer within five (5) Business Days after Buyer becomes aware of the same (but, in any event, prior to the Closing Date). Unless Buyer
is entitled to and timely objects to such title matters, all such title matters shall be deemed to constitute additional Permitted Exceptions.

(b) If this Agreement is not terminated by Buyer in accordance with the provisions hereof, Seller shall, at Closing, Remove or
cause to be Removed any Title Objections to the extent (and only to the extent) that the same constitute Required Removal Exceptions.
In addition, Seller may elect (but shall not be obligated) to Remove or cause to be Removed any other Title Objections. To the extent
that the same do not constitute Required Removal Exceptions, Seller may notify Buyer in writing after receipt of Buyer’ s notice of Title
Objections (but, in any event, prior to the Closing Date) whether Seller elects to Remove the same (and the failure to provide such notice
within five (5) Business Days after the date of Buyer’ s notice of Title Objections shall be deemed to constitute an election of Seller not
to effect any such cure). If Seller elects not to Remove one or more Title Objections (or is deemed to have so elected), then, within five
(5) Business Days after Seller’ s election (but, in any event, prior to the Closing Date), Buyer may elect in writing to either (i) terminate
this Agreement, in which event the Deposit shall be paid to Buyer and, thereafter, the parties shall have no further rights or obligations
hereunder except for obligations which expressly survive the termination of this Agreement, or (ii) waive such Title Objections and
proceed to Closing. Failure of Buyer to respond in writing within such period shall be deemed an election by Buyer to waive such Title
Objections and proceed to Closing. Any such Title Objection so waived (or deemed waived) by Buyer shall be deemed to constitute a
Permitted Exception and the Closing shall occur as herein provided without any reduction of or credit against the Purchase Price.

(c) If Seller is unable to Remove any Required Removal Exceptions or other Title Objection that it has previously elected to
Remove prior to the Closing, Buyer may at Closing elect to either (a) terminate this Agreement, in which event the Deposit shall be paid
to Buyer and, thereafter, the parties shall have no further rights or obligations hereunder except for obligations which expressly survive
the termination of this Agreement, or (b) waive such Title Objection and the Closing shall occur as herein provided without any

reduction of or credit against the Purchase Price.

(d) Seller shall be entitled to a reasonable adjournment of the Closing (not to exceed thirty (30) days) for the purpose of the
Removal of any Required Removal Exceptions or other Title Objections.

4.2.2 Discharge of Title Exceptions. If on the Closing Date there are any Required Removal Exceptions or any other Title
Objections which Seller has elected in writing to pay and discharge, Seller may use any portion of the Purchase Price to satisfy the same,
provided Seller shall cause the Title Company to Remove the same.

4.2.3 No New Exceptions. From and after the date hereof, Seller shall not execute any deed, easement, restriction, covenant or
other matter affecting title to the
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Property unless Buyer has received a copy thereof and has approved the same in writing. If Buyer fails to object in writing to any such
proposed instrument within three (3) Business Days after receipt of the aforementioned notice, Buyer shall be deemed to have approved
the proposed instrument. Buyer’ s consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed with respect to any such instrument that is
proposed prior to the end of the Due Diligence Period. Buyer, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall be entitled to grant or withhold its
consent with respect to any such instrument that is proposed between the end of the Due Diligence Period and the Closing.

4.3 Title Insurance. At Closing, the Title Company shall issue the Owner’ s Title Policy to Buyer, insuring that title to the Real Property
is vested in Buyer subject only to the Permitted Exceptions. Buyer shall be entitled to request that the Title Company provide such
endorsements (or amendments) to the Owner’ s Title Policy as Buyer may reasonably require, provided that (a) such endorsements (or
amendments) shall be at no cost to, and shall impose no additional liability on, Seller, (b) Buyer’ s obligations under this Agreement shall not
be conditioned upon Buyer’ s ability to obtain such endorsements and, if Buyer is unable to obtain such endorsements, Buyer shall
nevertheless be obligated to proceed to close the Transaction without reduction of or set off against the Purchase Price, and (c) the Closing
shall not be delayed as a result of Buyer’ s request.

ARTICLE 5 - BUYER’ S DUE DILIGENCE/CONDITION OF THE PROPERTY

5.1 Buyer’ s Due Diligence.

5.1.1 Access to Property. Between the date hereof and the Closing Date Seller shall allow Buyer and Buyer’ s Representatives access
to the Property upon reasonable prior notice at reasonable times provided (a) such access does not interfere with the operation of the Property
or the rights of tenants; and (b) Buyer shall not contact any tenant without Seller’ s prior written consent;. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
Buyer shall have the right to perform a standard “Phase I” environmental inspection of the Property, however, in no event shall Buyer be
permitted to perform any invasive testing, or “Phase II"" inspections of the Property without Seller’ s prior written consent, which consent may
withheld in Seller’ s sole discretion. In addition, Seller has made available to Buyer copies of the property files of Seller and the management
agent for the Property (other than those files containing confidential, proprietary or privileged materials), including without limitation those
items listed on Exhibit O attached hereto, which specific items Seller has previously delivered to Buyer, with exception to the items described
as item (c) of Exhibit O (i.e., schedules of pass-through rents for the tenants), which Seller shall deliver to Buyer within five (5) business days
following the date of this Agreement. The Due Diligence Period shall be extended one(1) day for each day following the five (5) business day
period for which Seller fails to deliver to Buyer the items listed as item (c) onExhibit O attached hereto. Buyer shall deliver promptly to Seller
copies of all Buyer’ s Reports. Buyer shall immediately return the Property to the condition existing prior to any tests and inspections. Prior to
such time as Buyer or any of Buyer’ s Representatives enter the Property, Buyer shall obtain the following 1) a policy of comprehensive
general liability insurance, with a broad form contractual liability endorsement covering all indemnification obligations of Buyer hereunder,
with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence for
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bodily injury and property damage; (ii) automobile liability insurance policy covering owned, hired and non-owned vehicles, providing
coverage of $1,000,000 single limit for bodily injury and property damage; (iii) worker’ s compensation insurance policy in the statutory
amounts required by law in the state where the Property is located; (iv) employers’ liability insurance policy in the amount of $1,000,000,
and; (v) an excess umbrella liability policy for bodily injury and property damage in the amount of $10,000,000, the policies described above
in subsections (i) through (v) insuring Buyer and Buyer’ s Representatives, Seller, Property Manager as additional insureds, against any
injuries or damages to persons or property that may result from or are related to Buyer’ s and/or Buyer’ s Representatives entry upon the
Property, or any and all other activities undertaken by Buyer and/or Buyer’ s Representatives..

5.1.2 Limit on Government Contacts. Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, except in
connection with the preparation of a so-called “Phase I’ environmental report with respect to the Property, Buyer shall not contact
any governmental official or representative regarding hazardous materials on or the environmental condition of the Property
without Seller’ s prior written consent thereto, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. In addition, if Seller’ s
consent is obtained by Buyer, Seller shall be entitled to receive at least five (5) days prior written notice of the intended contact and
to have a representative present when Buyer has any such contact with any governmental official or representative.

5.2 As-Is. Where-Is. With All Faults Sale. Buyer acknowledges and agrees as follows:

(a) During the Due Diligence Period, Buyer has conducted and shall continue to conduct, or has waived its right to conduct,
such Due Diligence as Buyer has deemed or shall deem necessary or appropriate.

(b) The Property shall be sold, and Buyer shall accept possession of the Property on the Closing Date, “AS IS, WHERE IS,
WITH ALL FAULTS”, with no right of setoff or reduction in the Purchase Price.

(c) Except for Seller’ s Warranties, none of the Seller Parties have or shall be deemed to have made any verbal or written
representations, warranties, promises or guarantees (whether express, implied, statutory or otherwise) to Buyer with respect to the
Property, any matter set forth, contained or addressed in the Due Diligence Documents (including, but not limited to, the accuracy
and completeness thereof) or the results of Buyer’ s Due Diligence.

(d) Buyer shall independently confirm to its satisfaction all information that it considers material to its purchase of the
Property or the Transaction.

In addition, Buyer expressly understands and acknowledges that it is possible that unknown Liabilities may exist with respect to the Property
and that Buyer explicitly took that possibility into account in determining and agreeing to the Purchase Price, and that a portion of such
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consideration, having been bargained for between parties with the knowledge of the possibility of such unknown Liabilities shall be given in
exchange for a full accord and satisfaction and discharge of all such Liabilities. Notwithstanding the foregoing, such acknowledgment is not
intended to, and shall not be construed to, (i) effect any assumption of liability as to matters which are not expressly assumed by Buyer in the
documents executed by the parties in connection with the Transaction, or (ii) affect or impair any rights or remedies that Buyer may have
against Seller as a result of a breach of any of Seller’ s Warranties.

5.3 Termination of Agreement During Due Diligence Period. If Buyer, in its sole and absolute discretion, is not satisfied with the
results of its Due Diligence during the Due Diligence Period, Buyer may terminate this Agreement by written notice to Seller at any time prior
to 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on the last day of the Due Diligence Period, and, in the event of such termination, neither Seller nor Buyer shall
have any liability hereunder except for those obligations which expressly survive the termination of this Agreement and Buyer shall be
entitled to the return of the Deposit. In the event Buyer fails to terminate this Agreement prior to 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on the last day of the
Due Diligence Period, Buyer shall be deemed to have waived its rights to terminate this Agreement in accordance with this Article 5. Buyer
and Seller each acknowledge and agree that Buyer shall have no additional period after the expiration of the Due Diligence Period to conduct
further Due Diligence. If after the expiration of the Due Diligence Period Buyer conducts further Due Diligence, Buyer acknowledges and
agrees that Buyer shall have no further right to terminate this Agreement with respect to such further Due Diligence or otherwise in
accordance with this Article 5 after the expiration of the Due Diligence Period.

5.4 Buyer’ s Certificate. Buyer shall deliver to Seller at the Closing, a certificate in the form of Exhibit C attached hereto and
incorporated herein by this reference.

ARTICLE 6 - ADJUSTMENTS AND PRORATIONS

The following adjustments and prorations shall be made at Closing:
6.1 Lease Rentals and Other Revenues.

6.1.1 Rents. All collected Rents shall be prorated between Seller and Buyer as of the day prior to the Closing Date. Seller shall be

entitled to all Rents attributable to any period to but not including the Closing Date. Buyer shall be entitled to all Rents attributable to
any period on and after the Closing Date. Rents not collected as of the Closing Date shall not be prorated at the time of Closing. With
respect to percentage rent due from any tenant, Buyer and Seller agree that at Closing estimated percentage rent shall be prorated for the
calendar year in which the Closing occurs (even though the same may not have been collected as of the Closing) based upon the amount
of percentage rent due from such tenant for the calendar year immediately prior to the calendar year in which the Closing occurs. After
Closing, Buyer shall make a good faith effort to collect any Rents not collected as of the Closing Date on Seller’ s behalf and to tender
the same to Seller upon receipt (which obligation of Buyer shall survive the Closing and not be
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merged therein); provided, however, that all Rents collected by Buyer on or after the Closing Date shall first be applied to all amounts
due under the Leases at the time of collection (i.e., current Rents and sums due Buyer as the current owner and landlord) with the
balance (if any) payable to Seller, but only to the extent of amounts delinquent and actually due Seller. Buyer shall not have an exclusive
right to collect the sums due Seller under the Leases and Seller hereby retains its rights to pursue claims against any tenant under the
Leases for sums due with respect to periods prior to the Closing Date (including, without limitation, any percentage rent that may be due
with respect to any period of time prior to Closing, regardless of when the same is to be paid to the owner of the Property pursuant to the
terms of the applicable Lease); provided, however, that Seller (i) shall be required to notify Buyer in writing of its intention to
commence or pursue such legal proceedings; and (ii) shall not be permitted to commence or pursue any legal proceedings against any
tenant seeking eviction of such tenant or the termination of the underlying lease. The terms of the immediately preceding sentence shall
survive the Closing and not be merged therein.

6.1.2 Other Revenues. Revenues from Property operations [other than Rents (which shall be prorated as provided in Subsection
6.1.1), security deposits (which will be apportioned as provided in Section 6.6), and pre-paid installments or other payments under
Contracts (which shall be the sole property of Seller)] that are actually collected shall be prorated between Buyer and Seller as of 12:01
a.m. on the Closing Date. Seller shall be entitled to all such revenues attributable to any period to but not including the Closing Date and
Buyer shall be entitled to all such revenues attributable to any period on and after the Closing Date. After Closing, Buyer shall make a
good faith effort to collect any such revenues not collected as of the Closing Date on Seller’ s behalf and to tender the same to Seller
upon receipt (which obligation of Buyer shall survive the Closing and not be merged therein). Buyer shall not have an exclusive right to
collect such revenues and Seller hereby retains its rights to pursue claims against any parties for sums due with respect to periods prior to
the Closing Date.

6.2 Lease Expenses. At Closing, Buyer shall reimburse Seller for any and all Reimbursable Lease Expenses to the extent that the same
have been paid by Seller prior to Closing. In addition, at Closing, Buyer shall assume Seller’ s obligations to pay, when due (whether on a
stated due date or accelerated) any Reimbursable Lease Expenses unpaid as of the Closing, and Buyer hereby agrees to indemnify and hold
Seller harmless from and against any and all Liabilities (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and disbursements) with respect to
such Reimbursable Lease Expenses which remain unpaid for any reason at the time of Closing, which obligations of Buyer shall survive the
Closing and shall not be merged therein. Each party shall make available to the other all records, bills, vouchers and other data in such party’ s
control verifying Reimbursable Lease Expenses and the payment thereof.

6.3 Real Estate and Personal Property Taxes.

6.3.1 Proration of Ad Valorem Taxes. Buyer and Seller shall only prorate ad valorem real estate and personal property taxes for
the Property that are actually due and payable during Closing Tax Year, regardless of the year for which such taxes are assessed. As a result, if
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real estate or personal property taxes for the Property are paid in arrears (i.e., taxes paid during any Tax Year are assessed for or otherwise
attributable to the previous Tax Year), there shall be no proration of real estate taxes assessed for or attributable to the Property for the Closing
Tax Year (which would be due and payable during the following Tax Year). There shall be no proration of ad valorem real estate or personal
property taxes other than as set forth hereinabove and, as between Buyer and Seller, Buyer agrees that it shall be solely responsible for all such
ad valorem real estate and personal property taxes due and payable after the Closing. The proration of the ad valorem real estate and personal
property taxes actually due and payable during the Closing Tax Year shall be calculated as follows: Seller shall be responsible for that portion
of such taxes equal to (i) the total such taxes due and payable during the Closing Tax Year, multiplied by (ii) a fraction, the numerator of
which shall be the number of days in the Closing Tax Year prior to the Closing Date, and the denominator of which shall be 365; and Buyer
shall be responsible for the remainder of such taxes.

6.3.2 Insufficient Information. If, at Closing, the real estate and/or personal property tax rate and assessments have not been set for the
taxes due and payable during the Closing Tax Year, then the proration of such taxes shall be based upon the rate and assessments for the
preceding Tax Year, and such proration shall be adjusted between Seller and Buyer after Closing upon presentation of written evidence that
the actual taxes due and payable during the Closing Tax Year differ from the amounts used at Closing and in accordance with the provisions
of Section 6.7.

6.3.3 Special Assessments. Seller shall pay all installments of special assessments due and payable prior to the Closing Date and Buyer
shall pay all installments of special assessments due and payable on and after the Closing Date; provided, however, that Seller shall not be
required by the foregoing to pay any installments of special assessments which have not been confirmed or which relate to projects that have
not been completed on the date hereof.

6.3.4 Tenant Reimbursements. Notwithstanding the foregoing terms of this Article 6, Seller shall have no obligation to pay (and Buyer
shall not receive a credit at Closing for) any real estate or personal property taxes or special assessments to the extent that Buyer is entitled
after Closing to reimbursement of taxes and assessments, or the recovery of any increase in taxes and assessments, from the tenants under the
Leases, regardless of whether Buyer actually collects such reimbursement or increased taxes and assessments from such tenants, it being
understood and agreed by Buyer and Seller that (a) as between Buyer and Seller, Buyer shall be responsible for payment of all of such real
estate or personal property taxes and assessments, and (b) the burden of collecting such reimbursements shall be solely on Buyer.
Furthermore, Seller and Buyer acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding any provision in any of the Leases to the contrary, the tax
reimbursement payments to be paid by tenants of the Property during the Closing Tax Year are to be applied to pay the real estate taxes due
and payable during the Closing Tax Year and, therefore, Buyer shall not receive a credit for any amounts due and payable by tenants of the
Property prior to the Closing as real estate tax reimbursements.
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6.3.5 Reassessments. In the event the Property has been assessed for property tax purposes at such rates as would result in
reassessment (i.e., “‘escape assessment” or “roll-back taxes”) based upon the change in land usage or ownership of the Property on or after the
Closing Date, Buyer hereby agrees to pay all such taxes and to indemnify and save Seller harmless from and against all Liabilities for such
taxes. Such indemnity shall survive the Closing and not be merged therein.

6.4 Other Property Operating Expenses. Operating expenses for the Property shall be prorated as of 12:01 a.m. on the Closing Date.
Seller shall pay all utility charges and other operating expenses attributable to the Property to, but not including the Closing Date (except for
those utility charges and operating expenses payable by tenants in accordance with the Leases) and Buyer shall pay all utility charges and
other operating expenses attributable to the Property on or after the Closing Date. To the extent that the amount of actual consumption of any
utility services is not determined prior to the Closing Date, a proration shall be made at Closing based on the last available reading and post-
closing adjustments between Buyer and Seller shall be made within twenty (20) days of the date that actual consumption for such pre-closing
period is determined, which obligation shall survive the Closing and not be merged therein. Seller shall not assign to Buyer any deposits
which Seller has with any of the utility services or companies servicing the Property. Buyer shall arrange with such services and companies to
have accounts opened in Buyer’ s name beginning at 12:01 a.m. on the Closing Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing terms of this section,
Seller shall have no obligation to pay (and Buyer shall not receive a credit at Closing for) any operating expenses to the extent that Buyer is
entitled after Closing to reimbursement of operating expenses, or the recovery of any increase in operating expenses, from the tenants under
the Leases, regardless of whether Buyer actually collects such reimbursement or increased operating expenses from such tenants, it being
understood and agreed by Buyer and Seller that (a) as between Buyer and Seller, Buyer shall be responsible for payment of all of such
operating expenses, and (b) the burden of collecting such reimbursements shall be solely on Buyer.

6.5 Closing Costs. Buyer shall pay the following costs and expenses associated with the following: (a) all costs of Buyer’ s Due
Diligence, including fees due its consultants and attorneys, (b) all lenders’ fees related to any financing to be obtained by Buyer, (c¢) one half
of all escrow or closing charges, (d) all premiums and charges of the Title Company for the Title Commitment and the Owner’ s Title Policy
(including endorsements) exceeding the cost of the CLTA Owner’ s Policy premium, and () the cost of the Survey (including any Survey
costs incurred by Seller in anticipation of the sale of the Property). Seller shall pay the following costs and expenses associated with the
Transaction: (i) the commission due Seller’ s Broker, (ii) all fees due its attorneys, (iii) all costs incurred in connection with causing the Title
Company to Remove any Required Removal Exceptions or to Remove any other Title Objections to the extent Seller specifically agrees in
writing, at or prior to Closing, to cause Removal of such matter, it being understood for purposes of this sentence that nothing in this
Agreement or any prior understanding or agreement of the parties shall be construed to obligate Seller to so Remove or agree to Remove any
such matter, (iv) one half of all escrow or closing charges, (v) all premiums and charges of the Title Company for the CLTA Owner’ s Title
Policy, and (vi) all transfer taxes, sales taxes, documentary stamp taxes and similar charges, if any, applicable to the transfer of the Property to
Buyer (but not with respect to any financing to be obtained by Buyer). The obligations of the parties under this Section 6.5 shall survive the
Closing (and not be merged therein) or any earlier termination of this Agreement.
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6.6 Cash Security Deposits. At Closing, Seller shall give Buyer a credit against the Purchase Price in the aggregate amount of any cash
security deposits then held by Seller under the Leases.

6.7 Delayed Adjustment: Delivery of Operating and Other Statements. If at any time following the Closing Date, the amount of an
item listed in any section of this Article 6 shall prove to be incorrect (whether as a result of an error in calculation or a lack of complete and
accurate information as of the Closing), the party in whose favor the error was made shall promptly pay to the other party the sum necessary to
correct such error upon receipt of proof of such error, provided that such proof is delivered to the party from whom payment is requested on or
before one (1) year after Closing (such period being referred to herein as the “Post Closing Adjustment Period”). In order to enable Seller to
determine whether any such delayed adjustment is necessary, Buyer shall provide to Seller current operating and financial statements for the
Property no later than the date one (1) month prior to the expiration of the Post-Closing Adjustment Period. The provisions of this Section 6.7
shall survive the Closing and not be merged therein.

ARTICLE 7 - CLOSING

Buyer and Seller hereby agree that the Transaction shall be consummated as follows:

7.1 Closing Date. Subject to Seller’ s right to extend the Closing as provided in this Agreement, Closing shall occur on the Closing Date.
The parties shall conduct an escrow-style closing through the Title Company (or such other party selected by Buyer and Seller) so that it will
not be necessary for any party to attend the Closing (Buyer and Seller shall have pre-Closings to finalize and sign all documents not later than
the day prior to Closing, and deliver such items to the escrow agent).

7.2 Title Transfer and Payment of Purchase Price. Provided all conditions precedent to Seller’ s obligations hereunder have been
satisfied, Seller agrees to convey the Property to Buyer upon confirmation of receipt of the Purchase Price by the Escrow Agent as set forth
below. Provided all conditions precedent to Buyer’ s obligations hereunder have been satisfied, Buyer agrees to pay the amount specified in
Article 3 by timely delivering the same to the Escrow Agent no later than 11:00 a.m. Eastern Time on the Closing Date and causing the
Escrow Agent to deposit the same in Seller’ s designated account by 12:00 noon Eastern Time on the Closing Date. In addition, for each full
or partial day after 12:00 noon Eastern Time on the Closing Date that Seller has not received in its account the payment specified in Article 3,
Buyer shall pay to Seller at Closing (and as a condition thereto) an amount equal to the per diem proration for one (1) day. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, Seller shall have the right to terminate this Agreement at any time if such payment is not received in Seller’ s designated
account by 12:00 noon Eastern Time on the Closing Date.
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7.3 Seller’ s Closing Deliveries. At the Closing, Seller shall deliver or cause to be delivered the following:

(a) Deed. A deed in the form of Exhibit D attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (“Deed”) executed and
acknowledged by Seller.

(b) Bill of Sale. A bill of sale in the form of Exhibit E attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (“Bill of Sale™)
executed by Seller.

(c) Assignment of Tenant Leases. An assignment and assumption of tenant leases, in the form of Exhibit F attached hereto and
incorporated herein by this reference (“Assignment of Leases”) executed by Seller.

(d) Assignment of Intangible Property. An assignment and assumption of the Contracts and the Other Property Rights (to the
extent the same are not transferred by the Deed, Bill of Sale or Assignment of Leases) in the form of Exhibit G attached hereto and
incorporated herein by this reference (“Assignment of Intangible Property”) executed by Seller.

(e) Notice to Tenants. A single form letter in the form of Exhibit H attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference,
executed by Seller, duplicate copies of which shall be sent by Buyer after Closing to each tenant under the Leases.

(f) Non-Foreign Status Affidavit. A non-foreign status affidavit in the form of Exhibit I attached hereto and incorporated herein
by this reference, as required by Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code, executed by Seller

(g) Evidence of Authority. Documentation to establish to Buyer’ s reasonable satisfaction the due authorization of Seller’ s
execution of this Agreement and all documents contemplated by this Agreement and the consummation of the Transaction

(h) Closing Statement. A Closing Statement Agreement which shall, among other items, set forth the Purchase Price, all credits
against the Purchase Price, the amounts of all prorations and other adjustments to the Purchase Price and all disbursements made at
Closing on behalf of Purchaser and Seller. (the “Closing Statement”).

(i) Title Affidavit. A Seller’ s Title Affidavit in the form of Exhibit J attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.

(j) Other Documents. Such other documents as may be reasonably required by the Title Company or as may be agreed upon by

Seller and Buyer to consummate the Transaction.

(k) Letters of Credit as Tenant Security Deposits. With respect to any security deposits which are letters of credit, Seller shall, if
the same may be assigned or

17 -

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

quitclaimed by Seller, (i) deliver to Buyer at the Closing such letters of credit, (ii) execute and deliver such other instruments as the
issuers of such letters of credit shall reasonably require, and (iii) cooperate with Buyer to change the named beneficiary under such
letters of credit to Buyer so long as Seller does not incur any additional liability or expense in connection therewith.

(1) Tax Returns. If applicable, duly completed and signed real estate transfer tax or sales tax returns.

(m) Keys and Original Documents. Keys to all locks on the Real Property in Seller’ s or Seller’ s building manager’ s possession
and originals or, if originals are not available, copies, of all of the Property Documents, to the extent not previously delivered to Buyer.

The items to be delivered by Seller in accordance with the terms of this Section 7.3 shall be delivered to Escrow Agent no later than 5:00 p.m.
Eastern Time on the last Business Day prior to the Closing Date, except that the items in the paragraph entitled “Keys and Original
Documents” shall be delivered by Seller outside of escrow and shall be deemed delivered if the same are located at the Property on the
Closing Date.

7.4 Buyer Closing Deliveries. At the Closing, Buyer shall deliver or cause to be delivered the following:

(a) Purchase Price. The Purchase Price, as adjusted for apportionments and other adjustments required under this Agreement, plus
any other amounts required to be paid by Buyer at Closing.

(b) Assignment of Leases. The Assignment of Leases executed and acknowledged by Buyer.
(c) Assignment of Intangible Property. The Assignment of Intangible Property executed and acknowledged by Buyer.
(d) Buyer’ s As-Is Certificate. The certificate of Buyer required under Article 5 hereof.

(e) Evidence of Authority. Documentation to establish to Seller’ s reasonable satisfaction the due authorization of Buyer’ s
acquisition of the Property and Buyer’ s execution of this Agreement and the documents required to be delivered by Buyer pursuant to
this Agreement and the consummation of the Transaction.

(f) Closing Statement. The Closing Statement.

(g) Other Documents. Such other documents as may be reasonably required by the Title Company or may be agreed upon by
Seller and Buyer to consummate the Transaction.
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(h) Tax Returns. If applicable, duly completed and signed real estate transfer tax or sales tax returns.

The Purchase Price shall be paid in accordance with the terms of Section 7.2 hereof and the items to be delivered by Buyer in accordance with
the terms of Subsections (b) and following of this Section 7.4 shall be delivered to Escrow Agent no later than 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on the
last Business Day prior to the Closing Date.

ARTICLE 8 - CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

8.1 Conditions to Seller’ s Obligations. Seller’ s obligation to close the Transaction is conditioned on all of the following, any or all of
which may be waived by Seller by an express written waiver, at its sole option:

(a) Corporate Approval. The unconditional approval of the Transaction by the Board of Directors of Wells Real Estate
Investment Trust, Inc., in its sole and absolute discretion;

(b) Representations True. All representations and warranties made by Buyer in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all
material respects on and as of the Closing Date, as if made on and as of such date except to the extent they expressly relate to an earlier
date;

(c) Buyer’ s Financial Condition. No petition has been filed by or against Buyer under the Federal Bankruptcy Code or any
similar state or federal Law, whether now or hereafter existing; and

(d) Buyer’ s Deliveries Complete. Buyer shall have delivered the funds required hereunder and all of the documents to be
executed by Buyer set forth in Section 7.4 and shall have performed all other covenants, undertakings and obligations, and complied
with all conditions required by this Agreement, to be performed or complied with by Buyer at or prior to the Closing.

8.2 Conditions to Buyer’ s Obligations. Buyer’ s obligation to close the Transaction is conditioned on all of the following, any or all of
which may be expressly waived by Buyer in writing, at its sole option:

(a) Representations True. Subject to the provisions of Section 9.3, all representations and warranties made by Seller in this
Agreement, as the same may be amended as provided in Section 9.3, shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as of the
Closing Date, as if made on and as of such date except to the extent that they expressly relate to an earlier date;

(b) Title Conditions Satisfied. At the time of the Closing, title to the Property shall be as provided in Article 4 of this Agreement;
and
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(c) Seller’ s Deliveries Complete. Seller shall have delivered all of the documents and other items required pursuant to Section 7.3
and shall have performed all other covenants, undertakings and obligations, and complied with all conditions required by this
Agreement, to be performed or complied with by Seller at or prior to the Closing.

(d) Buyer’ s Financing Contingency. Buyer shall have obtained, on or prior to the Due Diligence Deadline, a mortgage
commitment (“Mortgage Commitment’) reasonably acceptable to it, for a loan secured by the Property (herein, the “Financing
Contingency”). For purposes of satisfying Buyer’ s Financing Contingency, such Mortgage Commitment shall provide for the following: (i) an
original principal amount of not less than $4,368,000; and (ii) having an interest rate acceptable to Buyer. In the event Buyer does not elect to
terminate this Agreement on or prior to the expiration of the Due Diligence Period in accordance with Section 5.3 herein, it shall also be a
condition of Buyer’ s obligation to close this transaction that such Mortgage Commitment be in full force and effect as of Closing. Buyer shall
use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such Mortgage Commitment on or prior to the Due Diligence Deadline.

8.3 Waiver of Failure of Conditions Precedent. At any time or times on or before the date specified for the satisfaction of any
condition, Seller or Buyer may elect in writing to waive the benefit of any such condition set forth in Section 8.1 or Section 8.2, respectively.

By closing the Transaction, Seller and Buyer shall be conclusively deemed to have waived the benefit of any remaining unfulfilled conditions
set forth in Section 8.1 and Section 8.2, respectively. In the event any of the conditions set forth in Section 8.1 or Section 8.2 are neither

waived nor fulfilled, Seller or Buyer (as appropriate) may exercise such rights and remedies, if any, that such party may have pursuant to the
terms of Article 11 hereof.

ARTICLE 9 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

9.1 Buyer’ s Representations. Buyer represents and warrants to, and covenants with, Seller as follows:

9.1.1 Buyer’ s Authorization. Buyer (and as used in this Section 9.1.1, the term Buyer includes any general partners or managing
members of Buyer) (a) is duly organized (or formed), validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of its State of organization
and, as and to the extent required by Laws for this Transaction, the State in which the Property is located, (b) is authorized to
consummate the Transaction and fulfill all of its obligations hereunder and under all documents contemplated hereunder to be executed
by Buyer, and (c) has all necessary power to execute and deliver this Agreement and all documents contemplated hereunder to be
executed by Buyer, and to perform all of its obligations hereunder and thereunder. This Agreement and all documents contemplated
hereunder to be executed by Buyer, have been duly authorized by all requisite partnership, corporate or other required action on the part
of Buyer and are the valid and legally binding obligation of Buyer, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms. Neither the
execution and delivery of this Agreement and all documents contemplated hereunder to be executed by Buyer, nor the performance of
the
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obligations of Buyer hereunder or thereunder will result in the violation of any Law or any provision of the organizational documents of
Buyer or will conflict with any order or decree of any court or governmental instrumentality of any nature by which Buyer is bound.

9.1.2 Buyer’ s Financial Condition. No petition has been filed by or against Buyer under the Federal Bankruptcy Code or any
similar state or federal Law.

9.2 Seller’ s Representations. Seller represents and warrants to Buyer as follows:

9.2.1 Seller’ s Authorization. Seller (and as used in this Section 9.2.1, the term Seller includes any general partners or managing
members of Seller) (a) is duly organized (or formed), validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of its State of organization
and as and to the extent required by law the State in which the Property is located, (b) subject to obtaining the approvals described in
Subsection 8.1(a), is authorized to consummate the Transaction and fulfill all of its obligations hereunder and under all documents
contemplated hereunder to be executed by Seller, and (c) has all necessary power to execute and deliver this Agreement and all
documents contemplated hereunder to be executed by Seller, and to perform all of its obligations hereunder and thereunder. Subject to
obtaining the approvals described in Subsection 8.1(a), this Agreement and all documents contemplated hereunder to be executed by
Seller, have been duly authorized by all requisite partnership, corporate or other required action on the part of Seller and are the valid
and legally binding obligation of Seller, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms. Neither the execution and delivery of this
Agreement and all documents contemplated hereunder to be executed by Seller, nor the performance of the obligations of Seller
hereunder or thereunder will result in the violation of any Law or any provision of the organizational documents of Seller or will conflict

with any order or decree of any court or governmental instrumentality of any nature by which Seller is bound.

9.2.2 Other Seller’ s Representations. To Seller’ s knowledge:

(a) Except as listed in Exhibit L attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, Seller has not received any
written notice of any current or pending litigation against Seller which would, if determined adversely to Seller, materially
adversely affect the Property.

(b) As of the date of this Agreement, Seller has not entered into any service, supply, maintenance or utility contracts,
subcontracts or agreements affecting the Property which will be binding upon Buyer after the Closing other than (i) the Contracts
listed in Exhibit B attached hereto, (ii) the Leases, and (iii) the Permitted Exceptions.

(c) Except for defaults cured on or before the date hereof, Seller has not received any written notice of default under the
terms of any of the Contracts except as listed in Exhibit L attached hereto.
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(d) As of the date of this Agreement, the only tenants of the Property are the tenants listed in Exhibit M attached hereto and
incorporated herein by this reference; provided, however, that the foregoing is not intended (and shall not be construed) as a
representation by Seller of the parties that are in actual possession of any portion of the Property since there may be subtenants,
licensees or assignees that are in possession of portions of the Property of which Seller may not be aware.

(e) Except for violations cured or remedied on or before the date hereof and except as listed in Exhibit L attached hereto, as
of the date of this Agreement, Seller has not received any written notice from any governmental authority with respect to the
violation of of any zoning Law applicable to the Property.

() As of the date of this Agreement, except as set forth on Exhibit L, attached hereto and except for defaults cured on or
before the date hereof, Seller has neither (i) received any written notice from any tenant of the Property asserting or alleging that
Seller is in default under such tenant’ s Lease, nor (ii) sent to any tenant of the Property any written notice alleging or asserting that
such tenant is in default under such tenant’ s Lease.

(g) No Rents or Leases have been assigned, transferred or hypothecated by Seller, except by virtue of mortgage loan
instruments which shall be paid in full by Seller at or prior to Closing, and except as set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto with
respect to leasing commission agreements with respect to the Property.

(h) The Personal Property to be transferred to Buyer is free and clear of liens, security interests and other encumbrances
arising by, through or under Seller.

(i) Except as disclosed in the Title Commitment, as of the date of this Agreement and except as listed in Exhibit L attached
hereto, as of the date of this Agreement, Seller has not received any written notice from any governmental agency that any special
assessments are pending, noted or levied against the Property.

(j) Except as disclosed in the Title Commitment, as of the date of this Agreement, Seller has not received any written notice
of any proposed reassessments of the Property from the local taxing agencies which would, in the reasonable judgment of Seller,

increase real property taxes or assessments against the Property.
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(k) No petition has been filed by Seller, nor has Seller received written notice of any petition filed against Seller, under the
Federal Bankruptcy Code or any similar state or federal Law.

(1) The documents heretofore or hereafter delivered or otherwise made available to Buyer prior to Closing (i) include all
documents used by Seller in the day-to-day operations and management of the Property, other than Confidential Materials, and (ii)
are the same documents, other than Confidential Materials, used in connection with (A) the performance by Seller of its fiduciary
obligations to its clients and investors, and (B) the preparation of financial statements and reports submitted to the clients and
investors of Seller.

(m) As of the date of this Agreement, except as listed in Exhibit L, attached hereto, Seller has not received any written notice
from any insurance company that carries any of Seller’ s insurance with respect to the Property that any portion of the Property
violates any building, fire, or health code, statute, ordinance, rule or regulation applicable to the Property.

(n) There are no rights of first refusal, options or other agreements binding upon Seller whereby any individual or entity has
the right to purchase all or any part of the Property.

9.3 General Provisions.

9.3.1 No Representation As to Leases. Seller does not represent or warrant that any particular Lease or Leases will be in force or
effect on the Closing Date or that the tenants will have performed their obligations thereunder.

9.3.2 Seller’ s Warranties Deemed Modified. To the extent that Buyer knows or is deemed to know prior to the expiration of the
Due Diligence Period that Seller’ s Warranties are inaccurate, untrue or incorrect in any way, such Seller’ s Warranties shall be deemed
modified to reflect Buyer’ s knowledge or deemed knowledge, as the case may be.

9.3.3 Notice of Breach: Seller’ s Right to Cure. If after the expiration of the Due Diligence Period but prior to the Closing, Buyer
or any Buyer’ s Representative obtains actual knowledge that any of Seller’ s Warranties are untrue, inaccurate or incorrect in any
material respect, Buyer shall give Seller written notice thereof within five (5) Business Days of obtaining such knowledge (but, in any
event, prior to the Closing). If at or prior to the Closing, Seller obtains actual knowledge that any of Seller’ s Warranties are untrue,
inaccurate or incorrect in any material respect, Seller shall give Buyer written notice thereof within five (5) Business Days of obtaining
such knowledge (but, in any event, prior to the Closing). In either such event, Seller shall have the right to cure such misrepresentation
or breach and shall be entitled to a reasonable adjournment of the Closing (not to exceed thirty (30) days) for the purpose of such cure. If
Seller is unable to so cure any misrepresentation or breach, then Buyer, as its sole remedy for any
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and all such materially untrue, inaccurate or incorrect material representations or warranties, shall elect either (a) to waive such
misrepresentations or breaches of representations and warranties and consummate the Transaction without any reduction of or credit
against the Purchase Price, or (b) to terminate this Agreement by written notice given to Seller on the Closing Date, in which event this
Agreement shall be terminated, the Deposit shall be returned to Buyer and, thereafter, neither party shall have any further rights or
obligations hereunder except as provided in any section hereof that by its terms expressly provides that it survives any termination of this
Agreement. If any of Seller’ s Warranties are untrue, inaccurate or incorrect but are not, in the aggregate, untrue, inaccurate or incorrect
in any material respect, Buyer shall be deemed to waive such misrepresentation or breach of warranty, and Buyer shall be required to
consummate the Transaction without any reduction of or credit against the Purchase Price. The untruth, inaccuracy or incorrectness of
Seller’ s Warranties shall be deemed material only if Buyer’ s aggregate damages resulting from the untruth, inaccuracy or incorrectness
of Seller’ s Warranties are reasonably estimated to exceed $50,000.00.

9.3.4 Survival; Limitation on Seller’ s Liability. Seller’ s Warranties shall survive the Closing and not be merged therein for a
period of one year and Seller shall only be liable to Buyer hereunder for a breach of Seller’ s Warranties made herein or in any of the
documents executed by Seller at the Closing with respect to which a claim is made by Buyer against Seller on or before one year after
the date of the Closing. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, the maximum aggregate liability of Seller for
breaches of Seller’ s Warranties shall be limited as set forth in Section 15.15 hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, if the
Closing occurs, Buyer hereby expressly waives, relinquishes and releases any right or remedy available to it at law, in equity, under this
Agreement or otherwise to make a claim against Seller for damages that Buyer may incur, or to rescind this Agreement and the
Transaction, as the result of any of Seller’ s Warranties being untrue, inaccurate or incorrect if (a) Buyer knew or is deemed to know that
such representation or warranty was untrue, inaccurate or incorrect at the time of the Closing, or (b) Buyer’ s damages as a result of such
representations or warranties being untrue, inaccurate or incorrect are reasonably estimated to aggregate less than $50,000.00.

ARTICLE 10 - COVENANTS

10.1 Buyer’ s Covenants. Buyer hereby covenants as follows:

10.1.1 Confidentiality. Buyer acknowledges that any information heretofore or hereafter furnished to Buyer with respect to the
Property has been and will be so furnished on the condition that Buyer maintain the confidentiality thereof. Accordingly, Buyer shall
hold, and shall cause Buyer’ s Representatives to hold, in strict confidence, and Buyer shall not disclose, and shall prohibit Buyer’ s
Representatives from disclosing, to any other person without the prior written consent of Seller until the Closing shall have been
consummated, (a) the terms of the Agreement, (b) any of the information in respect of the Property delivered to or for the benefit of
Buyer whether by any Buyer’ s Representatives or by Seller or any of the Seller Parties, including, but not limited to, any
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information heretofore or hereafter obtained by Buyer or any Buyer’ s Representatives in connection with its Due Diligence, and (c) the
identity of Seller, and, if applicable, the identity of any direct or indirect owner of any beneficial interest in Seller. In addition, Buyer
hereby agrees that, after Closing, it shall continue to hold, and shall cause Buyer’ s Representatives to hold, the terms of this Agreement
and the identity of Seller, and, if applicable, the identity of any direct or indirect owner of any beneficial interest in Seller in strict
confidence, and Buyer shall not disclose, and shall prohibit Buyer’ s Representatives from disclosing, such information to any other
person without the prior written consent of Seller. In the event the Closing does not occur or this Agreement is terminated, Buyer shall
promptly return to Seller all copies of documents containing any of such information without retaining any copy thereof or extract
therefrom. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereinabove set forth, Buyer may disclose such information (a) on a need-to-know
basis to its employees, members of professional firms serving it or potential lenders, (b) as any governmental agency may require in
order to comply with applicable Laws, and (¢) to the extent that such information is a matter of public record. The provisions of this
Subsection 10.1.1 shall survive any termination of this Agreement.

10.1.2 Buyer’ s Indemnity. Buyer hereby agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold Seller and each of the other Seller Parties free and
harmless from and against any and all Liabilities (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and disbursements) arising out of or
resulting from (a) the breach of the terms of Subsection 10.1.1 or (b) the entry on the Real Property and/or the conduct of any Due
Diligence by Buyer or any of Buyer’ s Representatives at any time prior to the Closing; provided, however, that Buyer’ s obligations
under this clause (b) shall not apply to the mere discovery of an pre-existing environmental or physical condition at the Property. The
foregoing indemnity shall survive the Closing (and not be merged therein) or any earlier termination of this Agreement.

10.2 Seller’ s Covenants. Seller hereby covenants as follows:
10.2.1 Service Contracts.

(a) Without Buyer’ s prior consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, between the date hereof and the
Closing Date Seller shall not extend, renew, replace or modify any Contract or enter into any new service contract or agreement unless
such Contract, service contract or agreement (as so extended, renewed, replaced or modified) can be terminated by the owner of the
Property without penalty on not more than thirty (30) days’ notice. Seller shall provide Buyer not less than three (3) Business Days’
prior written notice to provide its consent to any such contract, extension, renewal, replacement or modification. If Buyer fails to object
in writing to any such proposed action within three (3) Business Days after receipt of the aforementioned notice, Buyer shall be deemed
to have approved the proposed action. Buyer’ s consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed with respect to any such
transaction that is proposed prior to the end of the Due Diligence Period. Buyer, in its sole and absolute discretion, shall be entitled to
grant or withhold its consent with respect to any such transaction that is proposed between the end of the Due Diligence Period and the
Closing.
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(b) On or before the Closing, Seller shall terminate any management agreements currently in effect with respect to the Property at
the sole cost and expense of Seller.

10.2.2 Maintenance of Property. Except to the extent Seller is relieved of such obligations by Article 12 hereof, between the date
hereof and the Closing Date Seller shall maintain and keep the Property in a manner consistent with Seller’ s past practices with respect
to the Property; provided, however, that, subject to Buyer’ s right to terminate this Agreement prior to the expiration of the Due

Diligence Period in accordance with the terms of Article 5 hereof, Buyer hereby agrees that, except for breaches of this Section 10.2.2,
Buyer shall accept the Property subject to, and Seller shall have no obligation to cure, (a) any violations of Laws, or (b) any physical
conditions which would give rise to violations of Laws, whether the same now exist or arise prior to Closing. Between the date hereof
and the Closing Date, Seller will advise Buyer of any written notice Seller receives after the date hereof from any governmental
authority of the violation of any Laws regulating the condition or use of the Property.

10.2.4 Estoppel Letters: Subordination Agreements. Seller shall cooperate with Buyer in preparing and delivering estoppel
letters in the form of Exhibit K-1 attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. After such estoppel letters are delivered to
the tenants, Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to assist Buyer in obtaining executed estoppel letters from each of the

tenants prior to Closing; provided, however, that in no event shall Seller be required by the foregoing to pay any sums (or incur any

other liability) to any tenants in connection with its attempts to obtain such estoppel letters. Notwithstanding any provision contained in
this Agreement to the contrary, it shall not be a condition to Buyer’ s obligations hereunder that any such estoppel letters are obtained
from any of the tenants of the Property.

10.3 Mutual Covenants.

10.3.1 Publicity. Seller and Buyer each hereby covenant and agree that prior to the Closing neither Seller nor Buyer shall issue any
Release (as hereinafter defined) with respect to the Transaction without the prior consent of the other, except to the extent required by
applicable Law. If either Seller or Buyer is required by applicable Law to issue a Release prior to Closing, such party shall, at least two
(2) Business Days prior to the issuance of the same, deliver a copy of the proposed Release to the other party for its review. As used
herein, the term “Release” shall mean any press release or public statement with respect to the Transaction or this Agreement.

10.3.2 Brokers. Seller and Buyer expressly acknowledge that Seller’ s Broker has acted as the exclusive broker with respect to the
Transaction and with respect to this Agreement. Seller shall pay any brokerage commission due to Seller’ s Broker in accordance with
the separate agreement between Seller and Seller’ s Broker. Seller
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agrees to hold Buyer harmless and indemnify Buyer from and against any and all Liabilities (including reasonable attorneys’ fees,
expenses and disbursements) suffered or incurred by Buyer as a result of any claims by Seller’ s Broker or any other party claiming to
have represented Seller as broker in connection with the Transaction. Buyer agrees to hold Seller harmless and indemnify Seller from
and against any and all Liabilities (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and disbursements) suffered or incurred by Seller as a
result of any claims by any other party claiming to have represented Buyer as broker in connection with the Transaction.

10.3.3 Tax Protests, Tax Refunds and Credits. Seller shall have the right to continue and to control the progress of and to make

all decisions with respect to any contest of the real estate taxes and personal property taxes for the Property due and payable during the
Closing Tax Year and all prior Tax Years. Buyer shall have the right to control the progress of and to make all decisions with respect to
any tax contest of the real estate taxes and personal property taxes for the Property due and payable during all Tax Years subsequent to
the Closing Tax Year. All real estate and personal property tax refunds and credits received after Closing with respect to the Property
shall be applied in the following order of priority: first, to pay the costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses
and disbursements) incurred in connection with obtaining such tax refund or credit; second, to pay any amounts due to any past or
present tenant of the Property as a result of such tax refund or credit to the extent required pursuant to the terms of the Leases; and third,
apportioned between Buyer and Seller in the manner provided in Section 6.3.

10.3.4 Survival. The provisions of this Section 10.3 shall survive the Closing (and not be merged therein) or earlier termination of
this Agreement.

ARTICLE 11 - DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

11.1 Buyer Defaults. If, on or before the Closing Date, (i) Buyer is in default of any of its obligations hereunder, or (ii) any of Buyer’ s
material representations or warranties are untrue in any material respect, or (iii) the Closing otherwise fails to occur by reason of Buyer’ s
failure or refusal to perform its obligations hereunder in a prompt and timely manner, and such circumstance in (i), (ii) or (iii) continues for
five (5) days after written notice from Seller to Buyer, which written notice shall detail such default, untruth or failure, as applicable, then
Seller may elect to (a) terminate this Agreement by written notice to Buyer; or (b) waive the condition and proceed to close the Transaction. If
this Agreement is so terminated, then Seller shall be entitled to the Deposit as liquidated damages, and thereafter neither party to this
Agreement shall have any further rights or obligations hereunder other than any arising under any section herein which expressly provides that
it survives the termination of this Agreement. It is hereby agreed that, without resale, Seller’ s damages will be difficult to ascertain and that
the Deposit constitutes a reasonable liquidation thereof in connection with any termination of this Agreement as aforesaid, and are intended

not as a penalty, but as full liquidated damages.

11.2 Seller Defaults. If, at the Closing, (i) Seller is in default of any of its obligations hereunder, or (ii) any of Seller’ s material

representations or warranties are untrue in any material
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respect, or (iii) the Closing otherwise fails to occur by reason of Seller’ s failure or refusal to perform its obligations hereunder in a prompt and
timely manner, and such circumstance in (i), (ii) or (iii) continues for five (5) days after written notice from Buyer to Seller, which written
notice shall detail such default, untruth or failure, as applicable, Buyer shall have the right, to elect, as its sole and exclusive remedy, to (a)
terminate this Agreement by written notice to Seller, promptly after which the Deposit shall be returned to Buyer, or (b) waive the condition
and proceed to close the Transaction, or (c) seek specific performance of this Agreement by Seller. As a condition precedent to Buyer
exercising any right it may have to bring an action for specific performance hereunder, Buyer must commence such an action within ninety
(90) days after the occurrence of Seller’ s default. Buyer agrees that its failure to timely commence such an action for specific performance
within such ninety (90) day period shall be deemed a waiver by it of its right to commence an action for specific performance as well as a
waiver by it of any right it may have to file or record a notice of /is pendens or notice of pendency of action or similar notice against any
portion of the Property.

ARTICLE 12 - CONDEMNATION/CASUALTY

12.1 Right to Terminate. If, after the date hereof, (a) any portion of the Property is taken by condemnation or eminent domain (or is the
subject of a pending taking which has not yet been consummated), or (b) any portion of the Property is damaged or destroyed (excluding
routine wear and tear), Seller shall notify Buyer in writing of such fact promptly after obtaining knowledge thereof. If the Property is the
subject of a Major Casualty/Condemnation that occurs after the date hereof, Buyer shall have the right to terminate this Agreement by giving
written notice to Seller no later than ten (10) Business Days after the giving of Seller’ s notice, and the Closing Date shall be extended, if
necessary, to provide sufficient time for Buyer to make such election. The failure by Buyer to so elect in writing to terminate this Agreement
within such ten (10) Business Day period shall be deemed an election not to terminate this Agreement. If this Agreement is terminated
pursuant to this Section 12.1, the Deposit shall be returned to Buyer and, thereafter, this Agreement shall terminate and neither party to this
Agreement shall have any further rights or obligations hereunder other than any arising under any section herein which expressly provides that
it shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

12.2 Allocation of Proceeds and Awards. If a condemnation or casualty occurs after the date hereof and this Agreement is not
terminated as permitted pursuant to the terms of Section 12.1, then this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect, Buyer shall acquire the
remainder of the Property upon the terms and conditions set forth herein and at the Closing:

(a) if the awards or proceeds, as the case may be, have been paid to Seller prior to Closing, Buyer shall receive a credit at Closing
equal to (i) the amount of any such award or proceeds on account of such condemnation or casualty, plus (ii) if a casualty has occurred
and such casualty is an insured casualty, an amount equal to Seller’ s deductible with respect to such casualty, less (iii) an amount equal
to the Seller-Allocated Amounts; and

(b) to the extent that such award or proceeds have not been paid to Seller prior to Closing, (i) if a casualty has occurred and such

casualty is an insured casualty, Buyer
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shall receive a credit at Closing equal to Seller’ s deductible with respect to such casualty, less an amount equal to the Seller-Allocated
Amounts, and (ii) Seller shall assign to Buyer at the Closing (without recourse to Seller) the rights of Seller to, and Buyer shall be
entitled to receive and retain, such awards or proceeds; provided, however, that within one (1) Business Day after receipt of such awards
or proceeds, Buyer shall pay to Seller an amount equal to the Seller-Allocated Amounts not previously paid to Seller.

12.3 Insurance. Seller shall maintain the property insurance coverage currently in effect for the Property, or comparable coverage,
through the Closing Date.

12.4 Waiver. The provisions of this Article 12 supersede the provisions of any applicable statutory or decisional law with respect to the
subject matter of this Article 12.

ARTICLE 13 - ESCROW

The Deposit and any other sums (including, without limitation, any interest earned thereon) which the parties agree shall be held in escrow
(herein collectively called the “Escrow Deposits™), shall be held by the Escrow Agent, in trust, and disposed of only in accordance with the

following provisions:

13.1 Deposit. The Escrow Agent shall invest the Escrow Deposits in government insured interest-bearing instruments reasonably
satisfactory to both Buyer and Seller, shall not commingle the Escrow Deposits with any funds of the Escrow Agent or others, and shall
promptly provide Buyer and Seller with confirmation of the investments made.

13.2 Delivery. If the Closing occurs, the Escrow Agent shall deliver the Escrow Deposits to, or upon the instructions of, Seller on the
Closing Date.

13.3 Failure of Closing. If for any reason the Closing does not occur, the Escrow Agent shall deliver the Escrow Deposits to Seller or
Buyer only upon receipt of a written demand therefor from such party, subject to the following provisions of this Section 13.3. If for any
reason the Closing does not occur and either party makes a written demand upon the Escrow Agent for payment of the Escrow Deposits, the
Escrow Agent shall give written notice to the other party of such demand. If the Escrow Agent does not receive a written objection from the
other party to the proposed payment within ten (10) days after the giving of such notice, the Escrow Agent is hereby authorized to make such
payment. If the Escrow Agent does receive such written objection within such period, the Escrow Agent shall continue to hold such amount
until otherwise directed by written instructions signed by Seller and Buyer or a final judgment of a court.

13.4 Stakeholder. The parties acknowledge that the Escrow Agent is acting solely as a stakeholder at their request and for their
convenience, that the Escrow Agent shall not be deemed to be the agent of either of the parties, and that the Escrow Agent shall not be liable
to either of the parties for any action or omission on its part taken or made in good faith, and not in disregard of this Agreement, but shall be
liable for its negligent acts and for any Liabilities (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and disbursements) incurred by Seller or

Buyer resulting
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from the Escrow Agent’ s mistake of law respecting the Escrow Agent’ s scope or nature of its duties. Seller and Buyer shall jointly and
severally indemnify and hold the Escrow Agent harmless from and against all Liabilities (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and
disbursements) incurred in connection with the performance of the Escrow Agent’ s duties hereunder, except with respect to actions or
omissions taken or made by the Escrow Agent in bad faith, in disregard of this Agreement or involving negligence on the part of the Escrow
Agent.

13.5 Taxes. Buyer shall pay any income taxes on any interest earned on the Escrow Deposits. Buyer represents and warrants to the
Escrow Agent that its taxpayer identification number is PURCHASERTAXID.

13.6 Execution By Escrow Agent. The Escrow Agent has executed this Agreement in the place indicated on the signature page hereof
in order to confirm that the Escrow Agent has received and shall hold the Escrow Deposits, in escrow, and shall disburse the Escrow Deposits
pursuant to the provisions of this Article 13.

ARTICLE 14 - LEASE EXPENSES

14.1 New Leases; L.ease Modifications. After the LOI Date, except as may be permitted by the terms of this Section 14.1, Seller shall

not, without Buyer’ s prior written consent either (a) enter into a New Lease; (b) modify or amend any Lease (except pursuant to the exercise
by a tenant of a renewal, extension or expansion option or other right contained in such tenant’ s lease); or (c) consent to any assignment or
sublease in connection with any Lease. Seller shall furnish Buyer with a written notice of the proposed action which shall contain information
regarding the proposed action that Seller believes is reasonably necessary to enable Buyer to make informed decisions with respect to the
advisability of the proposed action. If Buyer fails to object in writing to any such proposed action within five (5) Business Days after receipt
of the aforementioned information, Buyer shall be deemed to have approved the proposed action. Buyer, in its sole and absolute discretion,
shall be entitled to grant or withhold its consent with respect to any such transaction that is proposed between the end of the Due Diligence
Period and the Closing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Lease requires that the landlord’ s consent be given under the applicable
circumstances, then Buyer shall be deemed ipso facto to have approved such action; and if any Lease requires that the landlord’ s consent be
subject to standards of discretion (such as that such consent not be unreasonably withheld), then Buyer shall be obligated to consider Buyer’ s
consent under the same standard of discretion. Any notice from Buyer rejecting a proposed action shall include a description of the reasons for
Buyer’ s rejection. If Buyer rejects the proposed action, Seller nevertheless retains full right, power and authority to execute such documents
as are necessary to effect such action, and Seller shall promptly advise Buyer of the same. The foregoing notwithstanding, in the event Buyer
has rejected the proposed action but Seller nonetheless proceeds to effect it, Buyer shall have the right, within three (3) Business Days after
receipt of Seller’ s notice that Seller has taken such action, to elect to terminate this Agreement by the delivery to Seller of a written notice of
termination, in which case the Deposit shall be paid to Buyer and, thereafter, the parties shall have no further rights or obligations hereunder
other than any arising under any section herein which expressly provides that it shall survive the termination of this Agreement. If Buyer fails
to notify Seller within such time period, Buyer shall be deemed to have fully waived any rights to
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terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 14.1. Seller shall deliver to Buyer a true and complete copy of each such New Lease,
renewal or extension agreement, modification, or amendment, as the case may be, promptly after the execution and delivery thereof.

14.2 Lease Enforcement. From and after the date of this Agreement and until the Due Diligence Deadline, Seller shall have the right,
but not the obligation, to enforce the rights and remedies of the landlord under any Lease, by summary proceedings or otherwise (including,
without limitation, the right to remove any tenant), and to apply all or any portion of any security deposits then held by Seller toward any loss
or damage incurred by Seller by reason of any defaults by tenants, and the exercise of any such rights or remedies shall not affect the
obligations of Buyer under this Agreement in any manner or entitle Buyer to a reduction in, or credit or allowance against, the Purchase Price
or give rise to any other claim on the part of Buyer. From and after the Due Diligence Deadline, Seller shall not enforce any remedy of the
landlord under any Lease that could result in a termination of such Lease, without the prior consent of Buyer, which shall not be unreasonably
withheld. If Buyer fails to consent to such enforcement action within three (3) business days following notice from Seller, Buyer shall be
deemed to have consented to such enforcement action.

ARTICLE 15 - MISCELLANEOUS

15.1 Buyer’ s Assignment. Buyer shall not assign this Agreement or its rights hereunder to any individual or entity without the prior
written consent of Seller, which consent Seller may grant or withhold in its sole and absolute discretion, and any such assignment shall be null
and void ab initio. In the event of any permitted assignment by Buyer, any assignee shall assume any and all obligations and liabilities of
Buyer under this Agreement but, notwithstanding such assumption, Buyer shall continue to be liable hereunder. Nothwithstanding the
foregoing, Buyer shall have the right, with prior written notice to Seller, to assign its rights under this Agreement to any entity affiliated with,
controlled by, or under common control with or, having control over Buyer.

15.2 Designation Agreement. Section 6045(e) of the United States Internal Revenue Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder
(herein collectively called the “Reporting Requirements”) require an information return to be made to the United States Internal Revenue
Service, and a statement to be furnished to Seller, in connection with the Transaction. Escrow Agent shall be the “Reporting Person” as
hereinafter provided; Escrow Agent is either (i) the person responsible for closing the transaction (as described in the Reporting
Requirements) or (ii) the disbursing title or escrow company that is most significant in terms of gross proceeds disbursed in connection with
the transaction (as described in the Reporting Requirements). Accordingly:

(a) Escrow Agent is hereby designated as the “Reporting Person” (as defined in the Reporting Requirements) for the Transaction.
Escrow Agent shall perform all duties that are required by the Reporting Requirements to be performed by the Reporting Person for the
Transaction.
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(b) Seller and Buyer shall furnish to Escrow Agent, in a timely manner, any information requested by Escrow Agent and necessary
for Escrow Agent to perform its duties as Reporting Person for the Transaction.

(c) Escrow Agent hereby requests Seller to furnish to Escrow Agent Seller’ s correct taxpayer identification number. Seller
acknowledges that any failure by Seller to provide Escrow Agent with Seller’ s correct taxpayer identification number may subject Seller
to civil or criminal penalties imposed by law. Accordingly, Seller hereby certifies to Escrow Agent, under penalties of perjury, that
Seller’ s correct taxpayer identification number is SELLERTAXID.

(d) Each of the parties hereto shall retain this Agreement for a period of four (4) years following the calendar year during which
Closing occurs.

15.3 Survival/Merger. Except for the provisions of this Agreement which are explicitly stated to survive the Closing, (a) none of the
terms of this Agreement shall survive the Closing, and (b) the delivery of the Deed and any other documents and instruments by Seller and the
acceptance thereof by Buyer shall effect a merger, and be deemed the full performance and discharge of every obligation on the part of Buyer
and Seller to be performed hereunder.

15.4 Integration: Waiver. This Agreement, together with the Exhibits hereto, embodies and constitutes the entire understanding
between the parties with respect to the Transaction and all prior agreements, understandings, representations and statements, oral or written,
are merged into this Agreement. Neither this Agreement nor any provision hereof may be modified or amended except by a written instrument
signed and delivered by both parties (but not the Escrow Agent), and then only to the extent set forth in such instrument. No waiver by either
party hereto of any failure or refusal by the other party to comply with its obligations hereunder shall be deemed a waiver of any other or
subsequent failure or refusal to so comply.

15.5 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the law of the State in which the
Property is located.

15.6 Captions Not Binding: Exhibits. The captions in this Agreement are inserted for reference only and in no way define, describe or
limit the scope or intent of this Agreement or of any of the provisions hereof. All Exhibits attached hereto shall be incorporated by reference
as if set out herein in full.

15.7 Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective
successors and permitted assigns.

15.8 Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any persons or circumstances shall, to any
extent, be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement or the application of such term or provision to persons or circumstances
other than those as to which it is held invalid or unenforceable shall not be affected thereby, and each term and provision of this Agreement
shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law.
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15.9 Notices. Any notice, request, demand, consent, approval and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing, and
shall be deemed duly given or made at the time and on the date when received by facsimile (provided that the sender of such communication
shall orally confirm receipt thereof by the appropriate parties and send a copy of such communication to the appropriate parties within one (1)
Business Day of such facsimile) or when personally delivered as shown on a receipt therefor (which shall include delivery by a nationally
recognized overnight delivery service), to the address for each party set forth below. Any party, by written notice to the other in the manner
herein provided, may designate an address different from that set forth below.

Itzhak Shabtai and Nevona Shabtai, Trustees of Itzhak and
If to Buyer: Nevona Shabtai Family Trust dated July 19, 2002

3008 Croddy Way

Santa Ana, California

Telephone No.: 714-557-2000
Telecopy No.: 714-557-0402

Ted Curtis Weitz, Attorney at Law
with a copy to: 15332 Antioch Street

Suite 534

Pacific Palisades, California 90272

Attention: Ted Weitz

Telephone No.: 310-573-1238
Telecopy No.: 310-573-9348

Wells/Orange County Associates

If to Seller: c/o Wells Real Estate Funds
6200 The Corners Parkway, Suite 250
Norcross, Georgia 30092-6040
Attention: F. Parker Hudson
Telephone No.: 770-243-8692
Telecopy No.: 770-243-8510

Alston & Bird LLP

with a copy to: 1201 West Peachtree Street
Atlanta, Georgia 30309-3424
Attention: Alison B. Jones
Telephone No.: 404.881.7557
Telecopy No.: 404-881-7777
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15.10 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which counterparts
taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

15.11 No Recordation. Seller and Buyer each agrees that neither this Agreement nor any memorandum or notice hereof shall be
recorded and Buyer agrees (a) not to file any notice of pendency or other instrument (other than a judgment) against the Property or any
portion thereof in connection herewith and (b) to indemnify Seller against all Liabilities (including reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and
disbursements) incurred by Seller by reason of the filing by Buyer of such notice of pendency or other instrument. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, if the same is permitted pursuant to applicable Laws, Buyer shall be entitled to record a notice of lis pendens if Buyer is entitled to
seek (and is actually seeking) specific performance of this Agreement by Seller in accordance with the terms of Section 11.2 hereof.

15.12 Additional Agreements: Further Assurances. Subject to the terms and conditions herein provided, each of the parties hereto
shall execute and deliver such documents as the other party shall reasonably request in order to consummate and make effective the
Transaction; provided, however, that the execution and delivery of such documents by such party shall not result in any additional liability or
cost to such party.

15.13 Construction. The parties acknowledge that each party and its counsel have reviewed and revised this Agreement and that the
normal rule of construction to the effect that any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in the
interpretation of this Agreement or any amendment hereof or Exhibit hereto.

15.14 Seller § 1031 Exchange. Seller may elect, and Buyer is willing to accommodate such election, if applicable, to effectuate the sale
of the Property by means of an exchange of “like-kind” property which will qualify as such under § 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code and all
regulations issued thereunder, provided Buyer incurs no additional expenses or liability and is not delayed in its acquisition of the Property. In
such event, notwithstanding any provisions hereof to the contrary, whether express or implied, Seller shall have the right to elect to assign all
of Seller’ s rights and obligations under this Agreement to a third party intermediary as part of and in furtherance of such a tax deferred
exchange of properties, which assignment may reserve the right of Seller to directly transfer title to the Property to Buyer in order to eliminate
duplicative documentation expenses and transfer taxes. Buyer agrees to such assignment for such purpose, and Buyer further agrees to assist
and cooperate in such exchange and to execute any and all documents (subject to the reasonable approval of Buyer) as are reasonably
necessary in connection with such exchange. Buyer further agrees to assist and cooperate in such exchange and to execute any and all
documents (subject to the reasonable approval of Buyer) as are reasonably necessary in connection with such exchange, provided that such
assistance and cooperation is at no cost, expense or liability to Buyer. It is understood and agreed that as part of such exchange, Buyer shall
not be obligated to acquire title to or convey any property (other than the Property) as part of such exchange. Seller hereby agrees to
indemnify and hold Buyer free and harmless from any cost, expense or liability, including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ fees
resulting from Seller’ s participation in such exchange.
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15.15 Maximum Aggregate Liability. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained in this Agreement or any documents
executed by Seller pursuant hereto or in connection herewith, the maximum aggregate liability of Seller and the Seller Parties, and the
maximum aggregate amount which may be awarded to and collected by Buyer, in connection with the Transaction, the Property, under this
Agreement and under any and all documents executed pursuant hereto or in connection herewith (including, without limitation, in connection
with the breach of any of Seller’ s Warranties for which a claim is timely made by Buyer) shall not exceed Five Hundred Thousand and no/
100 Dollars ($500,000). The provisions of this section shall survive the Closing (and not be merged therein) or any earlier termination of this
Agreement.

15.16 Time of The Essence. Time is of the essence with respect to this Agreement.

15.17 Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY HEREBY WAIVES TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT BY THE
OTHER PARTY IN CONNECTION WITH ANY MATTER ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH THE
TRANSACTION, THIS AGREEMENT, THE PROPERTY OR THE RELATIONSHIP OF BUYER AND SELLER HEREUNDER. THE
PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION SHALL SURVIVE THE CLOSING (AND NOT BE MERGED THEREIN) OR ANY EARLIER
TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT.

15.18 Facsimile Signatures. Signatures to this Agreement transmitted by telecopy shall be valid and effective to bind the party so
signing. Each party agrees to promptly deliver an execution original to this Agreement with its actual signature to the other party, but a failure
to do so shall not affect the enforceability of this Agreement, it being expressly agreed that each party to this Agreement shall be bound by its
own telecopied signature and shall accept the telecopied signature of the other party to this Agreement.

15.19 Jurisdiction. WITH RESPECT TO ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDINGS RELATING TO THE TRANSACTION, THIS
AGREEMENT, THE PROPERTY OR THE RELATIONSHIP OF BUYER AND SELLER HEREUNDER (“PROCEEDINGS”) EACH
PARTY IRREVOCABLY (A) SUBMITS TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS OF THE COUNTY OF ORANGE,
STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, AND (B) WAIVES
ANY OBJECTION WHICH IT MAY HAVE AT ANY TIME TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OF ANY PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT IN
ANY SUCH COURT, WAIVES ANY CLAIM THAT SUCH PROCEEDINGS HAVE BEEN BROUGHT IN AN INCONVENIENT
FORUM AND FURTHER WAIVES THE RIGHT TO OBJECT, WITH RESPECT TO SUCH PROCEEDINGS, THAT SUCH COURT
DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION OVER SUCH PARTY. THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION SHALL SURVIVE THE CLOSING
(AND NOT BE MERGED THEREIN) OR ANY EARLIER TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT.

[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON NEXT PAGES]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party hereto has caused this Agreement to be duly executed on its behalf on the day and year first

above written.

SELLER:

WELLS/ORANGE COUNTY

ASSOCIATES, a Georgia joint venture

Wells Operating Partnership, L.P.,
By: as administrative venture partner

Wells Real Estate Investment
By: Trust, Inc.,
as general partner

By:

Its:

-36-
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BUYER:

ITZHAK SHABTAI AND NEVONA
SHABTAI, TRUSTEES OF ITZHAK AND
NEVONA SHABTAI FAMILY TRUST
DATED JULY 19, 2002, a California family
trust

By:

Name:

Title:
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The undersigned has executed this Agreement solely to confirm its agreement to (i) hold the Escrow Deposits in escrow in accordance with
the provisions hereof and (ii) comply with the provisions of Article 13 and Section 15.2.

ESCROW AGENT:

FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE

COMPANY

By:
Name:
Title:

Date: , 2003

-38-
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MAY 30,2003
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EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

That certain real property located in the County of Orange, State of California, described as follows:

PARCEL A:

Parcel 1, as shown on a Map filed in book 233, pages 1 and 2 of Parcel Maps, in the office of the County Recorder of said County.

PARCEL B:

A non-exclusive easement for roadways for vehicular ingress and egress, for parking of motor vehicles, for installation, maintenance and
repair of sewer, water, gas, telephone and electrical facilities and other utilities necessary for the operation of the improvements, and for
surface drainage, as said easements are set forth in that certain Amended and Restated Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions
and Reciprocal Easement Agreement for Paragon Business Center recorded September 7, 1988 as Instrument No. 88-449724 of Official
Records of Orange County, California.
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EXHIBIT 31.1

PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 U.S.C. 1350)

I, Leo F. Wells, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the Partnership;

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for the periods presented in this
quarterly report;

The registrant’ s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15¢) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this quarterly report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly
report based on such evaluation; and

(c) disclosed in this quarterly report any change in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’ s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’ s
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’ s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors and the board of directors of the corporate general partner of one of the General Partners (or

persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting, which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/  LEO F. WELLS, III

November 7, 2003 By:

Leo F. Wells, 111
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Principal Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 U.S.C. 1350)

I, Douglas P. Williams, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the Partnership;

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for the periods presented in this
quarterly report;

The registrant’ s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15¢) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this quarterly report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly
report based on such evaluation; and

(c) disclosed in this quarterly report any change in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’ s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’ s
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’ s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors and the board of directors of the corporate general partner of one of the General Partners (or

persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting, which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/  DOUGLAS P. WILLIAMS

November 7, 2003 By:
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Douglas P. Williams

Principal Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 U.S.C. 1350)

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Wells Real Estate Fund X, L.P. (the “Registrant™) on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2003, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), the undersigned, Leo F. Wells,
III, Chief Executive Officer of the corporate general partner of one of the General Partners of the Registrant, and Douglas P. Williams, Chief
Financial Officer of the corporate general partner of one of the General Partners of the Registrant, hereby certify, pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350), that, to the best of our knowledge and belief:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Registrant.

/s/  LEO F. WELLS, III
Leo F. Wells, 111
Chief Executive Officer

November 7, 2003

/s/  DOUGLAS P. WILLIAMS

Douglas P. Williams
Chief Financial Officer
November 7, 2003
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